
abc 
 
 

Agenda 

 

 
1 

Cabinet Member (Children and Young People) 
 

Time and Date 
2.00 pm on Tuesday, 4th September, 2012 
 
Place 
Committee Room 3 - Council House 
 

 
 
Public Business 
 

1. Apologies   
 

2. Declarations of Interests   
 

3. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 6) 
 

 (a) To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 17th July, 2012 (attached). 
 

(b)        Matters Arising 
 

4. Annual Family Group Conference Services Report  (Pages 7 - 34) 
 

 Report of the Director of Children, Learning and Young People (attached) 
 

5. Annual Report of the Coventry Independent Reviewing Officers (IRO) 2011-2012  
(Pages 35 - 98) 

 

 Report of the Director of Children, Learning and Young People (attached) 
 

6. Comments, Compliments and Complaints 2011-2012 - Children's Social Care 
Services  (Pages 99 - 124) 

 

 Report of the Director of Children, Learning and Young People (attached) 
 

7. Outstanding Issues  (Pages 125 - 128) 
 

 Report of the Director of Customer and Workforce Services (attached) 
 

8. Any Other Items of Business   
 

 To consider any other items of public business which the Cabinet Member decides to 
take as a matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved. 
 

Private Business 
 
Nil 
 
 

Bev Messinger, Director of Customer and Workforce Services, Council House Coventry 
 
Friday, 24 August 2012 

Public Document Pack



 
2 

 
Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Usha Patel 
Tel: 024 7683 3198 
 
 
Membership: Councillor J O'Boyle (Cabinet Member) 
 
By invitation: Councillor Lepoidevin (Shadow Cabinet Member) 
 

Please note: a hearing loop is available in the committee rooms 
 
If you require a British Sign Language interpreter for this meeting 

OR if you would like this information in another format or 
language please contact us. 
 

Usha Patel  
Tel: 024 7683 3198 
Minicom: (024) 7683 3029 
Fax: (024) 7683 3266 
Email: usha.patel@coventry.gov.uk 
 



 
CABINET MEMBER (CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE) 

 
17

th
 July, 2012 

 
Cabinet Member  
Present:  Councillor O'Boyle 
 
Shadow Cabinet  
Member Present:  Councillor Lepoidevin 
   
Employees Present:  D. Francisco (Customer and Workforce Services Directorate) 
  C. Green (Director of Children, Learning & Young People) 
  J. Newman (Finance and Legal Services Directorate) 
  A. Parks (Children, Learning & Young People Directorate) 
  U. Patel (Customer & Workforce Services Directorate) 
 
In Attendance:  K. McFadden  
  E. Slack (Work Experience) 
 
Apologies:  Councillor Kershaw Cabinet Member (Education) 
     
Public Business 
 
1. Declarations of Interest 
 
 There were no declarations of interest. 

 
2. Minutes 
 

 (a)  The minutes of the meeting held on 6
th
 March 2012 were signed as a true record.  

 
 (b) There were no matters arising.  

 
3. Exclusion of Press and Public 
 
 RESOLVED that, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the item of business indicated in Minute 8 below 
headed "Electronic File Sharing for Foster Carers" on the grounds that this item involves 
the likely disclosure of exempt information and that there would be no public interest in 
disclosing that information, as defined in Schedule 12A of the Act, in particular 
paragraph 3. 
 
4. Commitment to the Every Disabled Child Matters Charter 
 

The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Director of Children, Learning and 
Young People which proposed Coventry City Council to sign up to the Local Authority Disabled 
Children's Charter developed by the Every Child Matters campaign organised by Contact a 
Family, the Council for Disabled Children, Mencap and Special Educational Consortium. The 
Charter and the commitments it contains aims to improve the quality of services for disabled 
children and their families.  

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



 
 Every disabled Child Matters (EDCM) is a campaign to get rights and justice for every 
disabled child. The campaign works closely with the disabled children's sector and 34,000 
supporters to lobby Government to ensure disabled children and their families have the 
services and support they need to lead ordinary lives.  
 
 

An important component of the campaign was to ask local authorities to sign up to Local 
Authority Disabled Children's Charter. There was also a charter for Primary Care Trusts.  

 
The Local Authority Disabled Children's Charter is a set of commitments that local 

authorities sign up to show that they are committed to disabled children and their families. 
EDCM published a new Local Authority Disabled Children's Charter in Spring 2011 which 
included updated commitments reflecting new duties on local authorities. The Charter was 
attached at Appendix 1 of the report.  

 
The Council has made significant improvements to its services for disabled children over 

the last two to three years. The provision of short breaks has been significantly expanded using 
funding first from the Aim High for Disabled Children grant and subsequently maintaining this 
investment from the Early Intervention Grant. 

 
The City Council had not previously signed up to the Charter as it took such 

commitments very seriously. The City Council wanted to be confident that it would achieve or 
be close to achieving the Charter's aims within a year of signing.  The improvements in the 
Council's services together with the commitment to work with our NHS and adult services 
colleagues on joint development of services through the appointment of a Joint Commissioning 
Manager for Disabled Children meant that the Council were confident of the progress they 
would make to achieve the Charter's aims over the next twelve months.  

 
 RESOLVED that after due consideration of the report and the matters raised at the 
meeting, the Cabinet Member signed the Local Authority Disabled Children's Charter on 
behalf of Coventry City Council. 
 
5. Report on the progress of the review of the delivery of Advice and Information (A1) 

by the Integrated Youth Support Service (IYSS) to young people in Coventry  
 

 The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Director of Children, Learning and 
Young People which outlined the progress made in relation to the review and detailed 
proposals for the future delivery of services.  
 
 A review of the delivery of advice and information to young people was proposed in 
November 2011 and a commitment was given by the Integrated Youth Support service 
(IYSS) to consult with young people on their views about how, when and where services 
should be made available. A petition bearing 13 signatures had previously been submitted 
by Councillor Walsh calling on the Council to ensure that young people were fully consulted 
prior to any future decisions being made about the delivery of advice and information 
following the relocation of the One Stop Shop. A number of mechanisms have been 
employed to undertake this consultation, including the use of survey monkey questionnaires 
which were completed by over 520 young people and follow up focus groups in which 42 
young people took part. A professional stakeholders' focus group was also held to support 
the process and to explore further the initial findings of the questionnaires. Consultation had 

Page 2



also taken place with staff currently employed to support this service in order to involve them 
in helping to shape the revised model for delivery.  
 
 Following analysis of the information received from the review and consultation, the IYSS 
management team had identified the following as information to shape the new model of 
delivery of services. Young people attending education wanted to be able to access advice 
and information in their own neighbourhoods, including at school/college during lunchtime 
and at a city centre base on Saturdays. Those not in education or training preferred to have 
access to daytime and early evening provision within their own areas.  
 
 Given that the service formally known as the One Stop Shop was obliged to move out of 
its base at the foyer at the end of March 2012, it was necessary to base staff temporarily in 
two centres managed by the IYSS, in Jardine Crescent and Broad Street.  
 
 The proposed model for delivery would built on this approach and would deliver a 
combination of centre based/school based advice and information in a number of areas of 
deprivation during the daytime and early evening and would also offer city centre provision 
on Saturday afternoons.  
 
 Alongside delivery from the two identified bases at Jardine Crescent and Broad Street, it 
was anticipated that other youth service sites which would have delivery directly supported 
by the Advice information youth workers would be in Radford, Spon End and Wood End. 
This would be achieved by staff working in small teams of two, on a rota basis, so that 
young people would know when and where they were available.  
 
 In order to maximise update and make best use of staff resources, the new model would 
be one which promoted day time activities in the youth centres, primarily aimed at those 
young people who are not in education, employment or training (NEETS). Drop in sessions 
would be publicised, which would promote opportunities for young people to access support 
with CV writing, job searches and employment skills whilst at the same time offering access 
to advice and information on a range of other topics including general, emotional and sexual 
health, relationships, housing and benefits.   
 
 This would enable youth workers to use both their general youth skills and their more 
specialist advice and information knowledge to a potentially much wider audience. 
Negotiations were currently underway to develop links between the advice and information 
staff and the youth service volunteer co-ordinator to explore accredited programmes for 
NEETS young people.  
 
 As well as the centre based provision, negotiations were underway with schools and FE 
colleges in these areas with a view to establishing lunchtime advice and information 
sessions delivered by the youth worker.  
 
 On Saturday afternoons service would be delivered from the new CSWP site in Sheldon 
Square, City Centre. 
 
 It was envisaged that the model as outlined would promote greater access to services 
and was in line with expressed preferences of the young people surveyed.  
 
 The report indicated that a steering group had been established which included 
members of IYSS staff from centre based, school based and city wide teams to monitor and 

Page 3



develop this work, including further analysis of information from the survey based on age, 
gender and ethnicity.  
 
 Staff were already based at centres in Jardine Crescent and Broad Street as a 
temporary measure, whilst detailed planning has been undertaken to establish the new 
model and locations for delivery. Roll out to Wood End, Radford and Spon End would take 
place over the summer and negotiations with schools and colleges would hopefully result in 
lunchtime delivery starting from September in the majority of venues.     
 
 RESOLVED that after due consideration of the report and the matters raised at the 
meeting, the Cabinet Member (Children and Young People): -  
 

1. Considered and noted the outcome of the consultation undertaken with 
young people who are service users and potential service users.  

 
2. Considered and endorsed the revised Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) 

which has been undertaken by the service. 
 

3. Approved the recommendations for a new model of service delivery based 
on the findings from the review and consultation process as detailed in 
paragraph 2.3 and 2.4 of the report.  

  
4. Requested a progress report to be submitted in six months time.  

 
6. Outstanding Issues 
 
  The Cabinet Member noted the outstanding issues relevant to his portfolio and 
requested that the report be updated accordingly.  
 

 RESOLVED that after due consideration of the report and the matters raised at the 
meeting, the Cabinet Member (Children and Young People): -  

 
1. Item 1 headed "Petition – Location of Young Persons One Stop Shop" be 

deleted as that matter has now been considered and resolved.  
 

2. With regards to item 2 headed "Implementation of Multi-Systemic Therapy 
and KEEP", the progress report be submitted to the Cabinet Member 
meeting scheduled for 22

nd
 January 2013. 

 
3. With regards to item 3 headed "Review of Payments to Foster Carers and 

Policy for Family and Friends Care", the progress report be submitted to 
the Cabinet Member meeting scheduled for 16

th
 October 2012.   

   
7.  Any Other Items of Public Business 
 

(1) Electronic File Sharing for Foster Carers 
 

The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Director of Children and Young  
People which responded to a request to find a solution that would enable the Council to 
send/receive information to and from foster carers in a secure electronic manner. This would 

Page 4



include information about prospective children who required a placement, as well as information 
about a specific child in their care.  
 

It was recognised that the current process of sending paper copies through the postage  
system created a delay in ensuring that foster carers have the relevant information about 
children placed in their care, as well as impacting the ability to initially place foster children in a 
timely fashion.        
 
  The Directorate drafted a set of requirements to address these issues and the following 
ICT options (including costs, risks, timescales and effort) were presented to the Council's ICT 
Strategy Group on 17

th
 April 2012: 

 
• Solution 1 – provided external users with a Coventry.gov.uk email address 
• Solution 2 – Implement Microsoft Sharepoint Portal (collaboration website) 
• Solution 3 – Use 'Huddle' cloud based collaboration software.  

 
  Solution 2 was recommended by both the Children and Young People's Directorate and 
ICT on the basis that it was the most cost effective and sustainable solution that met the 
business requirements and utilised software for which the Council was already licensed. The 
recommended solution also provided the council with an opportunity to implement a 
collaboration platform that could be used to deliver other similar business needs for other parts 
of the Council. As the overall cost was within their delegated authority limits, this was approved 
by the Strategy Board on 17

th
 April 2012.  

 
 RESOLVED that after due consideration of the report and the matters raised at the 
meeting, the Cabinet Member (Children and Young People) endorsed the 
recommendation approved by the ICT Strategy Group.  
 
Private Business  
 
8. Electronic File Sharing for Foster Carers 
 
 The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Director of Children and Young  
People which responded to a request to find a solution that would enable the Council to 
send/receive information to and from foster carers in a secure electronic manner. This would 
include information about prospective children who required a placement, as well as information 
about a specific child in their care. A corresponding public report was also submitted to the 
meeting, Minute 7(1) above refers. 
 
 This report detailed the cost of the approved option for consideration.  
 
 RESOLVED that after due consideration of the report and the matters raised at the 
meeting, the Cabinet Member (Children and Young People) endorsed the 
recommendation approved by the ICT Strategy Group.  
 
(Note: At the request of the Cabinet Member (Children and Young People), the private report 
was subsequently made public on the Council's Committee Management Information System 
(CMIS) following the meeting as he saw no reason for any of the information to be kept out of 
the public domain.) 
 
 

Page 5



9. Any other items of Private Business 
 

There were no other urgent items of private business. 
  
(The meeting closed at 2.45 p.m.) 

Page 6



Public report
Cabinet Member Report

4th September, 2012 

Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member for Children & Young People
Councillor O'Boyle 

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Director of Children, Learning and Young People

Ward(s) affected:
All

Title:

Annual Family Group Conference Service Report 

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive Summary:

Coventry Family Group Conference facilitates family meetings where strengths and 
resources within a network of family and friends can be drawn upon to make a family plan 
which offers support, care and safety for children and young people.  

The outcomes for the children and families who have been offered a Family Group Conference 
have been carefully monitored and evaluated and are documented in the Annual Report 
attached.

The Family Group Conferencing Service has increasingly demonstrated its value in enhancing 
and assisting wider family and community networks involvement to facilitatate safe decision 
making for children and families in Coventry where there are child welfare concerns. 

Recommendations:

Cabinet Member is asked to

1. Endorse the report and note the continued development of Family Group Conferencing as 
a process to enhance and assist wider family and community networks involvement in 
safe decision making for children and families in Coventry where there are child welfare  
concerns.

Agenda Item 4

Page 7



List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1   Family Group Conference Annual Report 

Other useful background papers: 

None

Has it or will it be considered by Scrutiny? 
Yes
Booked on Scrutiny Board 2  11/10/12

Has it, or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other 
body? 
No

Will this report go to Council? 
No

 2 
Page 8



Page 3 onwards
Report title: 

1. Context (or background) 

1.1 Coventry Family Group Conference facilitates family meetings where strengths and 
resources within a network of family and friends can be drawn upon to make a family 
plan which offers support, care and safety for children and young people.  

1.2 The Family Group Conferencing Service is sited within the Safeguarding Children 
Service and works on a city wide basis addressing issues of child welfare. The 
Service is staffed by one full-time manager, two full-time Cordinators, one 0.5 FGC 
Coordinator (post funded until December 12  from another area) and 2 sessional 
coordinators with the capacity to provide 80 Family Group Conferences annually.   

The annual budget for 2011/12 was £164,347. 

The FSR process has identified funding to extend staffing by 0.5 FGC 
Coordinator which will increase capacity in the service by 20%. 

1.3  Key principles for the delivery of the Service include: 

• The positive involvement of family and community networks in decision -making about 
their children  

• The voices of children being heard and contributing to decision -making 

• The provision of information and resources and empowering families to make safe, 
effective, realistic and lasting plans for their children.  

• Continued prioritisation of work with families where critical  decisions are being made 
about their children, in particular those at risk of harm, family breakdown or in need of 
permanent alternative carers. 

1.4  The outcomes for the children and families who have been offered a Family Group 
Conference have been carefully monitored and evaluated and are documented in the 
Annual Report attached.  In summary these include:  

• All 88 FGCs undertaken in 2011/12 (88) succeeded in making plans for children, 
which were acceptable to the referrer.

• Sixty percent of the children who were Looked After when referred to the Service 
were successfully returned home to live with parents/family members, 

• FGC outcomes have continued to support CLYP priority areas through safely 
preventing children becoming LAC and improving outcomes for LAC in promoting 
permanence within the birth family.

 3 
Page 9



• The Service has also continued to successfully support families in identifying  
informal family based resources to allow children to remain living safely at home, 
often as an alternative to expensive agency led provision. 

• Through the continued flexible use of Sessional FGC Staff, the Service has been 
able to respond to demand without the need to operate a waiting list, ensuring a 
timely response to family need. 

• An evaluation of the recorded views of family members indicates that families rated 
the preparation carried out by the Service very highly and took a positive view of the 
decisions reached by Family Group Conferences. They considered that the Family 
Group Conferences produced positive results for the children involved, and also for 
their parents. 

1.5 The Family Group Conferencing Service has increasingly demonstrated its value in 
enhancing and assisting the involvement of wider family and community networks in order 
to make safe decision making for children and families in Coventry where there are child 
welfare concerns. 

1.6 The Service has also demonstrated value for money in respect of savings achieved through 
the provision of informal sources of support identified through Family Plans as an 
alternative to Council resources. 

1.7 The Coventry FGC Service has continued to have a significant profile within the Regional 
and National network for Family Group Conferencing, being an accredited provider of FGC 
Coordinator training. The Service works closely with its neighbouring FGC Service in 
Warwickshire which has helped to reduce costs for example in sharing children's advocacy 
service and training costs. 

1.8 It is anticipated that future focus will be upon ensuring the consistent application of the 
service in family situations where there is most need.  This supports the continuation and 
potential development of the FGC Service in the future. 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal 

Not applicable

3. Results of consultation undertaken

 Not applicable

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 

Not Applicable 

5. Comments from Director of Finance and Legal Services 

5.1  Financial implications 

 4 
Page 10



The FGC Service facilitates meetings with networks of family and friends to offer support and 
care for children and young people.  By working successfully with these family networks it 
has been demonstrated that in 28 of the 88 cases referred in 2011/12, this has prevented the 
need for these young people to be accommodated by the Local Authority and avoided the 
costs associated with this. 

The avoided costs can be considerable, but are difficult to quantify due to the need to 
assume what services would be required.  The following table shows the potential costs 
avoided from the successful 28 FGC:- 

Estimated Cost Avoided 
2011/12

Cashable:-

Internal/External Fostering Provision £581k to £1,143k 

Supervised Contact Sessions £33k

Daycare/Baby Sitting £8k

Respite Care £29k

Total Cost Avoided £651k - £1,213k 

Non-Cashable (Efficiency):- 

Family Support Worker Time (3,513 hours) £49,920

Total Efficiency Savings £49,920

The FGC Service is key to supporting the CLYP Fundamental Service Review aims of 
providing Early Intervention and Prevention services to prevent children coming into the care 
of the Local Authority.

5.2 Legal implications 

    There are no Legal implications 

6. Other implications

There are no specific implications to be considered 

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's key objectives / corporate 
priorities (corporate plan/scorecard) / organisational blueprint / LAA (or Coventry 
SCS)?

Fifty nine percent of the children referred to the Service are currently or have previously 
been subject to Child Protection Plans. Family Plans established at FGC in these 
circumstances are often addressing specific safety / risk issues or providing a support 
plan to address longer term sustainability once risk of significant harm has been 
reduced.

It continues to be an aim to promote the use of FGC pre Child Protection Conference in 
order to support reduced numbers of children subject to CP Plans. 

 Recently the Service has successfully diverted one family , for which a Child Protection 
Conference had been requested, by negotiation with the neighbourhood Team Manager 

 5 
Page 11



that FGC be tried first. Although there were significant concerns about mother's alcohol 
misuse, it appeared that there was an informal network of family support which could be 
drawn upon. 

 FGC was progressed urgently and the outcome was successful in reducing risk to the 
child to a level which was manageable outside of child protection processes. 

Approximately one third of children referred to the service are in the care of the Local 
Authority. Good care planning for these children requires the participation and 
contribution of everyone involved in the child’s life including the child, their parents and 
significant family members.  Family Group Conferences held in respect of children cared 
for by the local authority have primarily provided a vehicle for parents, the child and the 
extended family and friends to make decisions about the future care of their children. 
This can involve effecting an early return to the care of parents or extended family 
members. 

The Family Group Conferencing Service has increasingly demonstrated its value in 
enhancing and assisting wider family and community networks involvement to make 
safe decision making for children and families in Coventry where there are child welfare 
concerns.

The Service has also demonstrated value for money in respect of savings achieved 
through the provision of informal sources of support identified through Family Plans as 
an alternative to Council resources. 

6.2 How is risk being managed? 

Not Applicable 

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 

None

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

An Equality Impact Assessment was completed in August 2011. No specific actions were 
identified for this service. 

The views of family and friends are obtained following each FGC in respect of the usefulness 
of the process and success in addressing concerns. Ninety -eight family and friends 
completed evaluations in this reporting period and ninety- six percent of those reported that 
they had found the FGC useful and had addressed the concerns. 

About two-thirds of service providers who commented on their experience of FGCs, thought 
that the Conference had helped keep a child or young person out of Local Authority 
accommodation.  

Evaluation forms completed by young people at the conclusion of their FGC highlight that
they felt safe and able to contribute, and were listened to by the adults attending their FGC. 
They felt well supported by their Advocate. 

 6 
Page 12



6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment

Not Applicable 

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

Not Applicable 

Report author(s):

Name and job title:
Ann Clarkson & Anne Daly
Family Group Conference Manager 
Directorate:
Children, Learning and Young People
Tel and email contact:
76832173
Ann.clarkson@coventry.gov.uk
Anne.daly@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 

Contributor/approver
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:   

Usha Patel Governance 
Service Officer 

CWS 13.08.12 14.08.12

Other members

Names of approvers:
(officers and members) 

  

HR: Neelesh Sutaria HR Manager HR 13.08.12 14.08.12

Finance: Richard Adams Lead
Accountant 

Finance  13.08.12  20.08.12 

Legal: A R Burton Senior Solicitor Legal 13.08.12 17.08.12

Director: Colin Green Director CLYP 13.08.12 14.08.12

Member: Cllr O'Boyle  14.08.12  17.08.12 

This report is published on the council's website: 
www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings

 7 
Page 13



Appendices

 8 
Page 14



Coventry City Council 

Children Learning & Young People 
Directorate

Family Group Conference Service 

Annual Report

April 2011 to March 2012 

1Page 15



COVENTRY FAMILY GROUP CONFERENCE SERVICE 
ANNUAL REPORT 

1/4/2011 – 30/3/2012 

                                              

1) SERVICE PROFILE

 Coventry Family Group Conference Service facilitates family meetings where 
 strengths and resources within a network of family and friends can be drawn 
 upon to make a family plan which offers support, care and safety for children 
 and young people. The FGC Service is sited within the Safeguarding Children 
 Service and works on a city wide basis addressing issues of child welfare. 

Although the Service works primarily on cases referred by Social Care 
Children's Teams, multi agency access to the Service through the CAF 
process continues to be offered. 

The FGC Service is staffed by one full-time manager, two full-time and two 
sessional FGC coordinators (0.5 Temporary FGC Coordinator is additionally 
funded until Dec 2012 by FABB ) with the capacity to provide 80  FGCs per 
annum.

The FSR process has identified funding to extend staffing by 0.5 FGC 
Coordinator which will increase capacity in the service by 20%. 

The annual budget for the service in 2011/12 was £164,347.  This budget 
pays for 1 FTE FGC Manager and 2 FTE FGC Co-ordinators and associated 
costs.

The Coventry FGC Service has continued to have a significant profile within       
the Regional and National network for Family Group Conferencing, being an 
accredited provider of FGC Coordinator training. The Service works closely 
with its neighbouring FGC Service in Warwickshire which has helped to 
reduce costs for example in sharing children's advocacy service and training 
costs.

2) KEY TRENDS 2011/12

 The FGC Service has continued to primarily work with families where 
critical decisions are being made about their children, in particular 
those at risk of harm, family breakdown or in need of permanence. 

 Half of families referred to the Service are single parent households 
and have multiple problems, including domestic abuse, drug and 
alcohol misuse and mental health needs. 

 Early referral identification systems (through relevant Panels and 
Statutory Meetings) have been further strengthened and are embedded 
in order to promote take up and avoid delay. There has continued to be 
regular FGC staff presence in key services (RAS, Neighbourhood and 
LAC Social Care Teams) as well as the ongoing FGC Awareness 
Raising Programme, maintaining a high profile of the service.  

2Page 16



 Despite the high level of need addressed by the service, all the FGCs 
undertaken in 2011/12 succeeded in making plans for children, which 
were acceptable to the referrer. 

 FGC outcomes have continued to support CLYP priority areas through 
safely preventing children becoming LAC and improving outcomes for 
LAC in promoting permanence within the birth family.

 The Service has also continued to successfully support families in 
identifying  informal family based resources to allow children to remain 
living safely at home, often as an alternative to expensive agency led 
provision.

 Through the continued flexible use of Sessional FGC Staff, the Service 
has been able to respond to demand without the need to operate a 
waiting list, ensuring a timely response to family need. 

3) SERVICE DELIVERY DATA 2011/12

Referral Rate For FGC 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Children referred to FGC Service 85 120 103

No of FGC’s held 56 82 88

% of FGC’s with more than 4 family 
members

90% 85% 72% 

% Fathers attending 74% 51% 58% 

% of referrals progressing to FGC 68% 70% 75% 

% of referrals allocated to an FGC 
Coordinator within 5 days 

100% 100% 100% 

3a)  Referral Source 

Referrals to the Service continue to be made primarily by Social Care
Children's Teams. Although FGC was initially anticipated locally to be 
appropriately employed as preventive tool, the majority of referrals in practice 
continue to be at the higher level of need. 

FGC staff presence has been introduced to all MDT's in the last 6 months in 
an effort to promote early identification of families at risk of progressing to 
higher level need/risk.

This however has had limited impact and referrals from that sector remain 
low.

3b)  Referrals for FGC within Social Care (Fig 1) 

Consistency in uptake of FGC across the city by Neighbourhood Teams has 
been broadly maintained with all areas more routinely referring to the Service. 
There has however been a 10% fall in referrals from RAS. Given the 
significant role RAS has in the entry of cases to Social Care, this warrants 
further exploration.

3Page 17



The issue of delay in FGC referral whilst case transfer to Neighbourhood 
teams is awaited has been highlighted as a contributory factor. The increased 
pressure within RAS resulting from the significant rise in child protection 
cases may also be creating a 'crisis' approach with Social Workers focusing 
on immediate action rather than planned strategies such as FGC. 

Although there has been a 10% increase in referrals from Specialist Services, 
there is potential to extend the use of FGC further, particularly within the LAC 
Service in the area of promoting increased permanence for children through 
supporting Connected Persons seeking appropriate legal orders. 

Despite a tracking system being established with the Connected Persons 
Team, uptake of the FGC service remains low. 

There is FGC staff presence in Social Care Teams on an approximately 
monthly basis with the aim of actively promoting referrals. This has proved to 
be an effective approach.

 Fig l – Referral Source  

Referral Source

17%

10%

28%

20%

23%

2%

Social Care (RAS)

Social Care (Specialist)

Social Care (West)

Social Care (South East)

Social Care (North East)

MDT

3c)  Source of FGC Recommendation (Fig 2) 

The FGC Service has tight follow up and tracking systems  directly from CPC, 
LAC Reviews and ICASP.  

These have been made more robust in respect of LAC children through direct 
follow up being made with case holding Social Workers as soon as 
Safeguarding Service is notified of a child becoming LAC. 

The Service is also currently piloting the allocation of an FGC Coordinator 
directly from CPC and Legal Panel recommendation in order to progress more 
timely referrals. 

4Page 18



Fig 2 – referral recommendations

Referral Recommendations

40%

15%

9%

28%

9%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

Child Protection

Conference

Looked After

Review

Legal Planning

Meeting

Child In Need None of the

above

3d)  Referral Characteristics 

 i.  Referrals by Age Range ( Fig 3) 

There has been an increase in the percentage of children under the age of 4 
who are accessing the service. Many of these are within the child protection 
arena and will include those for whom permanence planning is being 
progressed with the support of the family network. 

Fig 3 

Referrals by Age Range

48%

25%

27%

Age 0 4

Age 5 11

Age 12 18

5Page 19



ii.  Child Protection Status of child at Referral (Fig 4) 

The Service continues to work with a high percentage of children subject to 
Child Protection Plans where the extended family are often providing specific 
safety provision within the Multi Agency Child Protection Plan.  It continues to 
be an aim to promote the use of FGC pre Child Protection Conference in 
order to support reduced numbers of children subject to CP Plans. 

We have successfully diverted a case recently, for which a Child Protection 
Conference had been requested, by negotiation with the neighbourhood 
Team Manager that FGC be tried first. Although there were significant 
concerns about mother's alcohol misuse, it appeared that there was an 
informal network of family support which could be drawn upon. FGC was 
progressed urgently and the outcome was successful in reducing risk to the 
child to a level which was manageable outside of child protection processes. 

Fig 4 

Child Protection Status of child at

Referral
43%

16%

0%
2%

32%

Current CP Plan Previous CP

Plan

Current CP

Investigation

Previous CP

Investigation

No Child

Protection

Issues

 iii. LAC status of child at Referral (Fig 5) 

Approximately 1/3 of referrals are in respect of children who are LAC and the 
need is for a family plan to support rehabilitation or to promote permanence 
planning within the extended family. This is a priority area for the service and 
will continue to be promoted in the relevant teams. 

6Page 20



Fig 5 

LAC status of child at Referral

27%

1%

69%

3%

Currently Looked After

Previously Looked After

Never Looked After

Not Answered

3e)   Participation of family members the FGC process (Fig 6) 

The service has continued to be extremely effective in ensuring the 
involvement of a wide range of extended family members and friends - many 
often previously uninvolved in contributing to the family plan. 

Fig 6 

Number of Family Members

Involved

27%

48%

25%

Less than 4

4 6

More than 6

7Page 21



3f) Participation of paternal family members the FGC process ( Fig 7 ) 

FGC’s have additionally been very effective in involving members of the 
 extended paternal family who often lose contact when parents separate. 
 There has been a slight increase on last year in the level of paternal 
 involvement in the FGC's undertaken. 

Fig 7 

Paternal Family Involved

58% 58%

25%

Father Attended Paternal Family

Involvement

No Paternal Family

3g)  Participation of Children & Young People (Fig 8)    
The participation of children alongside their families in making decisions 

which affect their lives is a fundamental principle of FGC practice. 
Fig 8

Child Participation

44%

9%

2%

38%

15%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

Child Attendance Representation by

an advocate

Other means e.g.

letter

Child under 4 Child did not

participate

8Page 22



          The Service clearly works with a significant % of children 0-4 for whom   
          participation in FGC can be challenging and difficult. FGC Coordinators are  
          skilled in using age appropriate tools with pre-school children to elicit views
          and  wishes. The expertise of Children Centre staff may also be called upon.to
          support this. 

4) FGC  OUTCOMES

All of the FGCs undertaken in 2011/12 (88) succeeded in making plans for 
children, which were acceptable to the referrer. 

The objective for each FGC is identified by the referrer. at the initial FGC. The 
outcome at closure is recorded by the FGC Coordinator following evaluation 
by the referrer. 

4a)   Referrer Feedback re FGC Outcome 

All of the Family Plans produced by Family Group Conferences in the 
reporting period with the following aims were considered by the referrer  to 
have addressed the concerns identified. 

Outcome Achieved at closure

To prevent a young person becoming looked after 13

To support a CIN plan 10

To support legal proceedings 6

To facilitate permanency planning 10

To improve school attendance 4

To support a Child Protection Plan 31

To Facilitate Contact 13

4b)  Outcomes for Children Looked After at the Point of Referral to FGC 

As there is a current focus upon improving planning and timescales for LAC 
children, data has been collated about the outcomes following FGC for this 
group specifically.
25 children were LAC at the point of FGC. 
15 (60%)were no longer LAC at the point of closure.

Fig 9 

2010/11 2011/12

Children no longer LAC – returned to parents 10
9

Children no longer LAC – SGO to family member 4
6

Children remain LAC but living with parents or family 4
2

Children remain LAC – Plan LT Foster Care /Adoption 5
8

Total 23 25

9Page 23



4c)  Estimated Cost Saving Resulting from FGC (Fig 11) 

FGC Plans generally identify supports which can be provided from within the 
friends and family network. These can range from babysitting to contact 
supervision and on occasion full time care of a child.

The resultant savings to the Local Authority can be considerable, but are 
complex to quantify. 

The figure below (Fig 11) relate to estimated cost savings made through 
accommodation being provided by the family network, where the alternative 
would have been placement in Local Authority care. 

 Fig 11  

Average full year 
accommodation 
costs (fostering)

No of Children 
provided with 
accommodation by  the 
family network via 
FGC( LAC prevented or 
returned home) 

Total
Potential
Cost Saving 

2010/11 Internal - £20,644 

External - £42,068 
15

Internal -
£309,660

External-          
£631,020

2011/12 Internal- £20,748 

External- £40,820
28

Internal-
£580,944

External-
£1,142,960

The Service also collects data in respect of potential cost avoidance through 
the provision of family based support resources as follows: 

 Fig 12 

Family Support Worker Time £49,920

Supervised Contact £33,160

Day care/Babysitting £8,091

Respite £29,330

Total estimated savings £120,501

 (Appendix 3 provides detailed  data)

10Page 24



11

4 d)  Views of Family Members re FGC Outcome and Process 

The Service routinely obtains the views of family and friends in respect of the 
usefulness of the FGC process and success in addressing concerns. 

Ninety eight family and friends completed evaluations in this reporting period 
which have been collated below. 

Effectiveness of FGC 
preparation

Found FGC useful FGC addressed the 
concerns

100% 96% 96% 

 FGC Service Users have said: 

‘It gives you a feeling of being involved instead of being on the 
sidelines’
(Grandmother)

‘Having everyone together has helped C (young person) understand the 
effects she has on everyone and take responsibility for her own actions. 
Her behaviour has greatly improved. Due to the input of FGC she now 
knows how much support she has’ 
(Family Friend) 

‘It has had a dramatic effect on my family as we have become a lot 
closer and are now able to sort out problems a lot easier’ 
(Sister)

‘ It was good to have a controlled discussion with other family members
without the distractions of home. I can remind others of the action plan 
without feeling I am nagging’ 
(Great grandmother) 

5) SERVICE CAPACITY

As  the FGC Service was previously operating at full capacity given the 
staffing available and referral rate, the additional resource (0.5 fte FGC 
Coordinator Post) identified through the FSR will allow us to extend the use of 
the service in the priority areas below. 

6) FUTURE FGC SERVICE PRIORITIES

The priorities identified through the FSR process have provided a clear focus 
for FGC future development, particularly in respect of children in the 0-4 and 
11-15  age range-see Appendix 1 

Anne Daly/Ann Clarkson 
FGC Managers  
July 2012

Page 25



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 1
 

C
L

Y
P

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
  

  
  

  
  

Im
p

li
c
a
ti

o
n

s
 f

o
r 

F
G

C
  

  
  

  
  

 
M

e
c
h

a
n

is
m

 

W
it
h
 t

h
e
 c

le
a
r 

fo
c
u
s
 w

it
h
in

 F
G

C
 u

p
o
n
 e

m
p
o
w

e
ri
n
g
 f

a
m

ili
e
s
 

it
 i
s
 w

e
ll 

p
la

c
e
d
 t

o
 f

o
rm

 p
a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 '
to

o
lb

o
x
' 
o
f 

s
u

p
p
o
rt

s
 t

o
 

b
e
 o

ff
e
re

d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 C

h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s
 T

e
a

m
 

L
e
a
d
e
rs

 a
n
d
 t

h
e
ir
 s

ta
ff
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 n

e
w

 C
h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d

 
F

a
m

ili
e
s
 F

ir
s
t 

S
e
rv

ic
e
. 

1
. 

E
s
ta

b
lis

h
 s

y
s
te

m
s
 w

it
h
 C

h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s
 

F
ir
s
t 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 h
ig

h
 l
e
v
e
l 
n
e
e
d
 c

a
s
e
s

a
n
d
 t

o
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 T

ro
u
b
le

d
 F

a
m

ili
e
s
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
.

2
. 

R
e
v
ie

w
 i
n
te

rf
a
c
e
 w

it
h
 R

A
S

 

Im
p

ro
v
e

o
u

tc
o

m
e
s

fo
r 

c
h

il
d

re
n

 

A
 m

a
n
d
a
te

 f
o
r 

re
fe

rr
a
ls

 t
o
 t

h
e

F
G

C
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e

 
a
p
p
lie

d
 t

o
 c

a
s
e
s
 o

n
 t

h
e
 t

h
re

s
h
o
ld

 o
f 

re
fe

rr
a
l 
to

 S
o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

/w
h
e
re

 t
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
a
b
le

 r
is

k
 o

f 
L
A

C
. 

 
T

h
e
 f

o
c
u
s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 o

n
 t

h
e
 a

g
e
 r

a
n
g
e
 0

-4
 g

iv
e
n
 t

h
e
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty

 n
e
e
d
 f

o
r 

ti
m

e
ly

 p
la

n
n
in

g
 f

o
r 

th
is

 g
ro

u
p
.

T
h
is

 m
a
y
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
 s

o
m

e
 r

e
p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
in

g
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 

F
G

C
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 w

h
ic

h
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 a

c
c
e
p
ts

 r
e
fe

rr
a
ls

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 

lo
w

e
r 

le
v
e
l 
C

A
F

 a
re

n
a
. 

It
 w

o
u
ld

 h
o
w

e
v
e
r 

b
e
tt

e
r 

re
fl
e
c
t 

th
e
 

C
L
Y

P
 p

ri
o
ri

ty
 a

re
a
s
 a

s
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 t

h
e
 F

S
R

. 

4
 

L
e
a
d
e
rs

h
ip

 t
e
a
m

 t
o
 e

n
d
o
rs

e
 t

h
is

 m
a
n
d
a
te

 a
n
d
 

re
q
u
ir
e
 a

d
h
e
re

n
c
e
 a

n
d

 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

1
2

Page 26



C
L

Y
P

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
  

  
  

  
  

Im
p

li
c
a
ti

o
n

s
 f

o
r 

F
G

C
  

  
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
M

e
c
h

a
n

is
m

 

F
G

C
 n

e
e
d
s
 t

o
 b

e
 m

o
re

 r
o
b
u
s
tl
y
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
s
is

te
n
tl
y
 

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
k
e
y
 p

o
in

ts
 w

h
e
n
 L

A
C

 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

/ 
h
a
s
 t

a
k
e
n
 

p
la

c
e
 w

it
h
o
u
t 

F
G

C
 (

ie
 i
n
 e

m
e
rg

e
n
c
y
 a

d
m

is
s
io

n
s
) 

 

P
ro

c
e
s
s
 m

a
p
p
in

g
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 F

S
R

 h
a
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 t
h
e

 
p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
to

 f
o
c
u
s
 o

n
 t

h
o
s
e
 k

e
y
 p

o
in

ts
. 

3
. 

M
a
in

ta
in

 F
G

C
 C

o
o
rd

in
a
to

r 
lin

k
 w

it
h
 R

A
S

 a
n

d
  

 
  

  
  

  
  

e
a
c
h
 N

e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

 T
e
a
m

. 

4
. 

F
G

C
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

a
n
d
a
te

d
 f

o
r 

c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 a

t 
p
o
in

t 
o
f 

C
ri
s
is

 I
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 i
n
v
o
lv

e
m

e
n
t 

5
. 

IC
A

S
P

 –
 F

G
C

 m
a
n
a
g
e
r 

m
e
m

b
e
rs

h
ip

 a
lr
e
a
d

y
. 

A
t 

p
re

s
e
n
t 

3
9
.9

%
 o

f 
c
h
ild

re
n
 0

-4
(5

9
%

 0
-1

) 
w

h
o
 a

re
 s

u
b
je

c
t 

to
 C

P
 P

la
n
s
 r

e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 c

h
ild

 b
e
c
o
m

in
g
 L

A
C

. 
C

o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty

 n
e
e
d
s
 t

o
 b

e
 g

iv
e
n
 t

o
 C

P
 c

a
s
e
s
 a

s
 a

 m
e
a
n
s
 t

o
 

a
v
o
id

in
g
 L

A
C

. 
T

h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 f

o
r 

s
p
e
e
d
ie

r 
re

fe
rr

a
l 
to

 F
G

C
 

b
y
 t

h
e
 S

W
. 

If
 C

P
C

 r
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
s
 F

G
C

, 
C

o
o
rd

in
a
to

r 
a
llo

c
a
te

d
 a

t 
th

a
t 

p
o
in

t 
to

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 r

e
fe

rr
a
l 

6
. 

C
u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 p

ilo
ti
n
g
 F

G
C

 C
o
o
rd

in
a
to

r 
a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 a

t 
th

e
 p

o
in

t 
o
f 

F
G

C
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 f

ro
m

 C
P

C
 t

o
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 r

e
fe

rr
a
l 
to

 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t

h
e
 d

e
la

y
 b

y
 t

h
e
 S

W
. 

S
a
fe

ly
 

re
d

u
c
e
 L

A
C

 
n

u
m

b
e
rs

A
c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 P

a
n
e

l/
IC

A
S

P
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n

s
 f

o
r 

F
G

C
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

c
te

d
 u

p
o
n
 a

s
 a

 p
ri
o
ri
ty

. 
R

o
u
ti
n
e
 

n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 t

o
 F

G
C

 S
e
rv

ic
e
 f

ro
m

 r
e
le

v
a
n
t 

P
a
n
e
ls

 w
o

u
ld

 
s
p
e
e
d
 u

p
 t

h
e
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 

7
. 

P
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
to

 p
ilo

t 
F

G
C

 C
o
o
rd

in
a
to

r 
a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 a

t 
th

e
 p

o
in

t 
o
f 

F
G

C
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 f

ro
m

 P
a
n
e
l 
to

 
p

ro
g

re
s
s
 r

e
fe

rr
a

l 

1
3

Page 27



C
L

Y
P

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
  

  
  

  
  

Im
p

li
c
a
ti

o
n

s
 f

o
r 

F
G

C
  

  
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
M

e
c
h

a
n

is
m

 

A
 m

a
n
d
a
to

ry
 e

x
p
e
c
ta

ti
o
n
 t

h
a
t 

a
ll 

1
s
t  L

A
C

 R
e
v
ie

w
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

F
G

C
 w

o
u
ld

 s
tr

e
n
g
th

e
n
 r

e
fe

rr
a
l 
to

 t
h
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 a

t 
th

is
 k

e
y
 

p
o
in

t 
to

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

 r
e
h
a
b
ili

ta
ti
o

n
 w

it
h
in

 8
 w

e
e
k
s
. 

 

8
. 

C
a
s
e
h
o
ld

in
g
 S

W
’s

 a
re

 n
o
w

 r
o
u
ti
n
e
ly

 n
o
ti
fi
e
d
 o

f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 t

o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

F
G

C
 a

t 
p
o
in

t 
o
f 

L
A

C
. 

9
. 

P
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
to

 p
ilo

t 
F

G
C

 C
o
o
rd

in
a
to

r 
a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 a

t 
th

e
 p

o
in

t 
o
f 

F
G

C
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 f

ro
m

 L
A

C
 

R
e

v
ie

w
 t

o
 p

ro
g

re
s
s
 r

e
fe

rr
a

l.
  

 

T
h
ro

u
g
h
 a

 c
le

a
r 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 

fo
r 

e
a
rl
ie

r 
u
ti
lis

a
ti
o
n

 o
f 

F
G

C
 

w
h
e
re

 c
o
u
rt

 p
ro

c
e
e
d
in

g
s
 a

re
 a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
, 

s
p
e
e
d
ie

r 
e
x
it
 o

f 
c
h
ild

re
n
 t

o
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 c
a
re

rs
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 f

a
m

ily
 n

e
tw

o
rk

 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 f

a
c
ili

ta
te

d
. 

1
0

.S
y
s
te

m
 i
s
 n

o
w

 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 f

o
r 

a
ll 

c
a
s
e
s
 c

o
m

in
g
 t

o
 

L
e
g
a
l 
P

a
n
e
l 
w

h
e
re

 F
G

C
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
e
d
, 

F
G

C
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 n

o
ti
fi
e
d
 a

n
d
 C

o
o
rd

in
a
to

r 
a
llo

c
a
te

d
 t

o
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 r

e
fe

rr
a

l.

S
a
fe

ly
 

re
d

u
c
e
 L

A
C

 
n

u
m

b
e
rs

T
h
e
re

 m
a
y
 b

e
 g

re
a
te

r 
p
o
te

n
ti
a

l 
to

 c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

F
G

C
 w

h
e
re

 
re

h
a
b
ili

ta
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 p

re
v
io

u
s
ly

 b
e
e
n
 r

u
le

d
 o

u
t,
 b

u
t 

th
e
re

 i
s
 a

 
c
h
a
n
g
e
/ 

re
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

th
e
 b

ir
th

 f
a
m

ily
 c

ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
 

w
h
ic

h
 m

a
y
 i
n
d
ic

a
te

 r
e
h
a
b
ili

ta
ti
o
n
 i
s
 n

o
w

 a
 v

ia
b
le

 o
p
ti
o
n
. 

A
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

s
u
c
h
 c

a
s
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 s

u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

lly
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

 
b
y
 t

h
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
. 

1
1
. C

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t

o
 p

ro
m

o
te

 F
G

C
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 L

A
C

 
S

e
rv

ic
e
.

1
2
. M

a
in

ta
in

 c
u
rr

e
n
t 

s
tr

o
n
g
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 I

R
O

’s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

w
h
ic

h
 C

a
re

 P
la

n
n
in

g
 w

it
h
in

 L
A

C
 R

e
v
ie

w
s
 i
s
 

fo
c
u
s
e
d
.

1
4

Page 28



C
L

Y
P

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
  

  
  

  
  

Im
p

li
c
a
ti

o
n

s
 f

o
r 

F
G

C
  

  
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
M

e
c
h

a
n

is
m

 

R
e
d

u
c
e

d
e

la
y
s
 f

o
r 

a
ll

 c
h

il
d

re
n

 

F
G

C
 i
s
 a

 f
le

x
ib

le
 t

o
o
l.
 E

v
e
n
 i
f 

th
e
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 m

a
y
 b

e
 

to
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

s
 t

o
 b

ir
th

 p
a
re

n
ts

 i
n
 c

a
ri
n
g
 f

o
r 

th
e
ir
 

c
h
ild

re
n
, 

a
n
 F

G
C

 c
a
n
 a

ls
o
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
 a

 c
o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
y
 p

la
n
 f

o
r 

a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 c

a
re

 a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 e

x
te

n
d
e
d
 f

a
m

ily
. 

T
h
e
 F

S
R

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
to

 '
m

a
n
d
a
te

 a
n
d
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 t

h
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
F

G
C

' 
in

 p
e
rm

a
n
e
n
c
y
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 f

o
r 

th
e
 0

-4
 y

e
a
r 

o
ld

 g
ro

u
p

 i
s
 

a
 w

e
lc

o
m

e
 m

o
v
e
. 

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t

o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 

re
le

v
a
n
t 

P
a
n
e
ls

 a
c
ti
v
e

ly
 p

ro
m

o
te

 F
G

C
. 

A
s
 t

h
e
 F

S
R

 h
a
s
 p

la
c
e
d
 p

ri
o
ri
ty

 f
o
r 

F
G

C
 u

p
o
n
 c

a
s
e
s
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 b

y
 L

e
g
a
l 
P

a
n
e
l,
 t

h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t

o
 s

tr
e
n

g
th

e
n
 t

h
e
 

lin
k
 w

it
h
 L

e
g
a
l 
P

a
n
e
ls

. 

1
3
. C

o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
y
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 c

e
n
tr

a
l 
to

 F
G

C
 

P
la

n
s
.

1
4

. 
P

o
te

n
ti
a

l 
to

 p
ilo

t 
F

G
C

 C
o

o
rd

in
a

to
r 

a
llo

c
a

ti
o

n
 a

t 
th

e
 

p
o

in
t 

o
f 

F
G

C
 r

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

 P
e

rm
a

n
e

n
c
e

 
P

a
n

e
l 
to

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 r

e
fe

rr
a

l.
  

 

1
5

. 
S

y
s
te

m
 i
s
 n

o
w

 i
n

 p
la

c
e

 f
o

r 
a

ll 
c
a

s
e
s
 r

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
e

d
 

a
t 

L
e

g
a

l 
P

a
n

e
l 
to

 b
e

 d
ir
e

c
tl
y
 l
in

k
e

d
 w

it
h

 a
 c

o
o

rd
in

a
to

r 
to

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
. 

V
a
lu

e
 f

o
r 

m
o

n
e

y
 

p
la

c
e

m
e
n

ts

F
G

C
 i
s
 w

e
ll 

p
la

c
e
d
 t

o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
c
a
re

rs
 f

o
r 

L
A

C
 

c
h
ild

re
n
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 e

x
te

n
d
e
d
 f

a
m

ily
. 

A
s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 b

e
in

g
 t

h
e
 

p
re

fe
rr

e
d
 o

p
ti
o
n
 f

o
r 

c
h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 f

a
m

ili
e
s
 t

h
e

m
s
e
lv

e
s
, 

th
is

 
is

 g
e
n
e
ra

lly
 t

h
e
 m

o
s
t 

c
o
s
t 

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e
 p

la
c
e
m

e
n
t.

 

W
it
h
in

 C
o
n
n
e
c
te

d
 P

e
rs

o
n
s
 A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

, 
F

G
C

 n
e
e
d
s
 t

o
 

b
e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 e

a
rl
ie

s
t 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
y
. 

 A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 
p
ro

c
e
d
u
re

s
 r

e
fe

r 
to

 c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n

 o
f 

F
G

C
, 

fe
w

 r
e
fe

rr
a
ls

 
h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 m

a
d
e
. 

1
6
. T

h
e
 t

ra
c
k
in

g
 s

y
s
te

m
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 F

G
C

 a
n
d
 t

h
e
 

C
o
n
n
e
c
te

d
 P

e
rs

o
n
s
 T

e
a
m

 n
e
e
d
s
 t

o
 b

e
 

s
tr

e
n
g
th

e
n
e
d
.

1
7
. A

ll 
c
o
n
n
e
c
te

d
 p

e
rs

o
n
s
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 m
u
s
t 

d
e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

 t
h
a
t 

F
G

C
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
. 1
5

Page 29



1
6

C
L

Y
P

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
  

  
  

  
  

Im
p

li
c
a
ti

o
n

s
 f

o
r 

F
G

C
  

  
  

  
  

 
  

  
  

  
e

M
c
h

a
n

is
m

R
e
c
o
n
n
e
c
ti
n
g
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 p

la
c
e
d
 i
n
 

e
x
p
e
n
s
iv

e
 o

u
t 

o
f 

c
it
y
 p

la
c
e
m

e
n
ts

 w
it
h
 t

h
e
ir
 f

a
m

ily
 n

e
tw

o
rk

 
u
s
in

g
 F

G
C

 i
s
 a

 p
o
s
it
iv

e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
th

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
. 

It
 m

a
y
 a

ls
o
 h

o
ld

 
th

e
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
to

 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
c
a
re

rs
 i
n
 w

h
a
t 

c
a
n
 

s
o
m

e
ti
m

e
s
 b

e
 a

 c
h
a
n
g

e
d
 f

a
m

ily
 s

it
u
a
ti
o
n
. 

1
8
. I

n
c
re

a
s
e
 r

o
b
u
s
tn

e
s
s
 o

f 
lin

k
 w

it
h
 L

A
C

 S
e
rv

ic
e

 

Page 30



Appendix 2 FGC Case studies

Case   1

Rehabilitation home from a Mother and Baby Foster Placement

At the point of referral Child A was six months old and living with her mother, D, in a mother 
and baby foster placement and subject of an Interim Care Order. A's parents were 
separated.  Both had extensive histories of drug and alcohol misuse and A's father (K) had 
long term mental ill health. 

Purpose of FGC 

The aims of the FGC were to develop a support plan to enable A & D to move into their own 
home, a safety plan for A in the event that any family members had concerns about A's 
welfare, a contact plan for A and her father, K, and to identify contingency plans in the event 
that A had to removed from D's care in the long-term. 

Maternal family members and several of D's friends engaged well in the FGC preparation 
process, however, K was very hostile and unwilling to allow his family to be contacted by the 
FGC Service. 

Following legal advice   it was clarified that paternal family members could be contacted, 
against K's wishes, if it were considered to be in the best interests of A. 
In order to formulate a comprehensive support plan for D and involve K's family in decisions 
about contact and A's future care it was felt appropriate to contact paternal family members .   

This had to be done very sensitively by the FGC Coordinator and whilst K changed his mind 
several times about whether he wanted them involved they did eventually attend the FGC.  
This afforded an opportunity to co-ordinate plans from both sides of the family.  

Outcome for the family 

The involvement of paternal family members had a number of benefits.  Despite K's 
displeasure at the thought of his family attending, the fact that they knew him so well 
enabled them to assist K to remain calm and engage more effectively in the process.  As 
well as resulting in a more comprehensive support plan to D it also widened the 
safeguarding network around A.  It enabled relationships to be built between A and paternal 
family members, who up to that point had not met A.  It also impacted on contact 
arrangements between A and K as paternal family members were willing to supervise their 
contact in a family setting. In addition Paternal family members were willing to be assessed 
as potential carers for A in the long-term if A placement with D broke down. 

The family reviewed their plan on three occasions.  A & D successfully moved to their own 
accommodation, supported by both maternal and paternal family members. A's contact with 
her father continues to be supervised by members of the paternal family. The legal 
proceedings have concluded and A was made the subject of a 12 month Supervision Order. 

17Page 31



Case Study 2

Permanency planning 

Historical Concerns 
Miss B's five older children from a previous relationship were removed from her care 
following Care Proceedings in 2010 as a consequence of longstanding Neglect and drug 
misuse.  

Mss B subsequently became pregnant again in April 2011 with a new partner and given the 
previous history of concerns the Local Authority initiated the Public Law Outline. The unborn 
child became subject to a Child Protection Plan and a Letter Before Proceedings was issued 
to both parents. 

Purpose of FGC 
FGC requested to:- 
 a) identify potential family members who may be able to care for the unborn child long term  
 b)If the parenting assessment was positive to identify support networks for parents . 

Outcome for Family 
FGC was able to identify extensive family support from both paternal and maternal families. 

The Initial FGC agreed that the baby would be placed with their paternal grandmother until 
parenting assessments had been completed. The Family Plan identified daily contact 
arrangements for parents whilst parenting assessments were completed.  

In the interim period between the initial FGC and the review FGC the personal 
circumstances of the paternal grandmother changed and she was no longer able to care for 
the baby. The family were responsive to the new situation and organised their own FGC to 
devise an alternative plan. The family agreed to place the baby with maternal grandmother 
with extensive support from both sides of the family. The new Family Plan was subsequently 
ratified by Social Care. 

A review FGC meeting was held three months later. The outcome of the parenting 
assessment was positive and Social Care requested the family formulate a rehabilitation 
plan for the child’s return home .The family developed a new support plan, which was 
subsequently agreed by Social Care. 

The baby was successfully rehabilitated home to her parents care and continues to be 
supported by the extended family networks. 

18Page 32



19

Case Study  3

FGC Preventing an Older Young Person Becoming LAC

The Situation:

 C is 15 years of age and was demonstrating extremely challenging 
behaviour - not abiding by house rules, staying out all night, very 
demanding of money. She had previously been accommodated by the 
LA due to her behaviour. The aim for the FGC was for  the family to 
come together to work out a support plan which would prevent her 
coming back into care. 

The FGC 

 In the FGC, C acknowledged that things needed to change and was 
prepared to work with her family towards these changes.  The focus of 
the plan was upon actions/activites which would help rebuild 
relationships between C and her family members; respite care to 
mother;  family support to maintain boundaries and rules. 

 The meeting was very positive, with the young person responding to 
being given the chance to share her views and wishes and to take 
responsibility for her part of the plan. She even offered to write up the 
plan herself! 

Current Situation 

 Social Care has closed the case on the above family;

 No reports of challenging behaviour from C

 C now has regular contact and support from her two much older 
siblings;

C is now attending College and is involved in voluntary and part time 
work.

Page 33



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
 C

o
s
t 

s
a
v
in

g
 d

a
ta

 

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

m
o

n
th

s
 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 
o

ff
e
re

d
 i

n
 

p
e
ri

o
d

F
a
m

il
y
 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 
W

o
rk

e
r 

p
e

r 
m

o
n

th
 (

h
o

u
rl

y
) 

F
a
m

il
y
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 

W
o

rk
e
r 

to
ta

l 
h

o
u

rs
 i

n
 p

e
ri

o
d

 

S
u

p
e
rv

is
io

n
 o

f 
c
o

n
ta

c
t 

(h
o

u
rs

) 
p

e
r 

m
o

n
th

 

S
u

p
e
rv

is
io

n
 o

f 
c
o

n
ta

c
t 

to
ta

l 
h

o
u

rs
 i

n
 p

e
ri

o
d

 

D
a

y
 c

a
re

 
(h

o
u

rs
) 

p
e
r 

m
o

n
th

 

D
a

y
 c

a
re

 t
o

ta
l 

h
o

u
rs

 i
n

 p
e

ri
o

d
 

R
e
s
p

it
e
 (

h
o

u
rs

) 
p

e
r 

m
o

n
th

 
R

e
s
p

it
e
 t

o
ta

l 
h

o
u

rs
 i

n
 p

e
ri

o
d

 

8
0

2
4

1
9
2

8
6
4

0

8
0

5
0

4
0
0

1
3
0

1
0
4
0

0

8
0

0
0

0

7
0

0
0

6
4

4
4
8

5
1
2

6
0

0
5

2
5

3
2

1
6
0

3
0

0
1
2

3
6

0

1
0

6
0

6
0
0

0
0

2
0

2
0
0

9
8

7
2

5
6

5
0
4

0
4
0

3
6
0

9
2
5

2
2
5

1
9

1
7
1

2
5

2
2
5

0

9
8

7
2

4
8

4
3
2

0
0

9
0

1
0

9
0

0
6

5
4

8
0

1
2

9
6

0
2
0

1
6
0

6
2
0

1
2
0

0
0

2
0

1
2
0

1
4
0

4
0

2
8

2
8

0
0

4
1
9
2

7
6
8

0
8

3
2

4
8

1
9
2

4
1
6

6
4

0
0

0

5
4
8

2
4
0

1
5

7
5

0
2
0

1
0
0

9
0

0
3
6

3
2
4

0

4
2
4
0

9
6
0

0
0

0

4
7

2
8

0
0

0

9
0

0
9
6

8
6
4

8
7
2

1
1

2
4

2
6
4

0
0

2
4

2
6
4

T
o
ta

l 
3

5
1

3
T

o
ta

l
1

9
8

8
T

o
ta

l 
2

6
1

0
T

o
ta

l
2

1
3

0

C
o
s
t 

P
e
r 

H
o
u

r 
£

1
4
.2

1
C

o
s
t 

P
e
r 

H
o
u

r 
£

 
1
6
.6

8
C

o
s
t 

P
e
r 

H
o
u

r 
£

 
3
.1

0
C

o
s
t 

P
e
r 

H
o
u

r 
£

 
1
3
.7

7

T
o
ta

l 
£
4
9
,9

2
0

T
o
ta

l 
£
3
3
,1

6
0

T
o
ta

l 
£
8
,0

9
1

T
o
ta

l 
£
2
9
,3

3
0

2
0

Page 34



Public report
Cabinet Member Report

4th September, 2012 

Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member (Children and Young People) – Councillor O'Boyle 

Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Children, Learning and Young People 

Ward(s) affected: 
All

Title:
Annual Report of the Coventry Independent Reviewing Officers (IRO) 2011-2012 

Is this a key decision? 
No

Executive Summary: 

This is the third Annual Report of the Coventry Independent Reviewing Service, covering the 
period from 1st April 2011 to 31st March 2012, as required by statutory guidance, the Independent 
Reviewing Officers (IRO) Handbook 2010. 

The report provides information for the Lead Member with responsibility for children, young 
people and corporate parenting on the work undertaken by the IRO service, and any issues that 
have arisen regarding how the Local authority exercised its role as Corporate Parent for all 
Looked After children in Coventry during that period.  

In order for the aspirations and expectations for Children in our Care and Care Leavers to be 
realised, it is important that the Lead Member and the Scrutiny Board responsible for achieving 
them receives regular reports that set out progress.  The annual Independent Reviewing Officer 
(IRO) report is part of that process. As a national requirement, its primary purpose is set out in 
the Independent Reviewing Officer’s Handbook (section 7.2).  

The report focuses on the Independent Reviewing Officer’s functions. In particular the timeliness 
of reviews, the participation of children in their reviews and ensuring that permanency plans are 
in place to avoid children drifting in care. It also identifies how many cases were the subject of 
the care plan resolution process, and whether any cases were referred to Children and Family 
Court Advisory and Support Service. 

Recommendations:

The Cabinet Member is asked to note the report to update on the management of children’s 
cases by the Independent Review Officers. 

Agenda Item 5

Page 35



List of Appendices included: 

Appendix 1 – The 3rd Independent Reviewing Officer Annual Report and related appendices  

Other useful background papers: 

None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
Yes at Scrutiny Board 2 on 11/10/12 

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?  

No

Will this report go to Council?  

No

 2 
Page 36



Page 3 onwards 
Report title: 

1. Context (or background) 

1.1 The report provides information for the Lead Member with responsibility for children, young 
people and corporate parenting on the work undertaken by the IRO service, and any issues 
that have arisen regarding how the Local authority exercised its role as Corporate Parent for 
all Looked After children in Coventry during that period. As required by statutory guidance, 
the Independent Reviewing Officers (IRO) Handbook 2010. 

1.2  In April 2011 the new IRO Handbook came into force thus changing guidance in working 
practice and including the following additional duties for IROs: 

• To maintain on-going contact with young people during the Review period. 

• To monitor a child’s “case” on an on-going basis and not just the Review. 

• Statutory duty to appoint an IRO to every looked after child within 5 days of them 
becoming looked after;

• Recommended caseloads for IROs of between 50-70 looked after children;  

• New requirements for availability of recommendations (within 5 working days) and full 
review reports within 20 working days of the review taking place;  

• New requirements for a review to take place before a child ceases to be looked after or 
moves from a regulated to a non-regulated placement;  

• New thresholds for conducting reviews of short-breaks ; 

• New requirements for the IRO to see the child before the review  and maintain contact 
between Reviews; 

• New requirements to track all cases and to be informed of key changes, which might lead 
to an early review taking place;

• New powers to adjourn reviews;   

• New powers to refer to Cafcass during dispute resolution processes or to seek 
independent legal advice ; and 

• New requirements in respect of children looked after placed in custody and young people 
subject to pathway plans; and 

• The role and functions of the IRO Manager. 

1.3 Management Guidance within the IRO Handbook requires that IROs are independent of the 
case management for the cases they review. The IRO service sits within the Safeguarding 
Children Service, under the leadership of the Assistant Director for Strategic Services and 
the IROs are directly line managed by the Review and Quality Assurance Manager who is 
one of the the service specialists for Safeguarding (children). 

1.4 The report sets out: 

 3 
Page 37



• The current make up and capacity of the IRO team and how the service meets its 
independence  

• The arrangements and procedures around quality assuring and monitoring of the Local 
Authority's case planning and how the IRO challenges any concerns that arise from 
these processes 

• Arrangements to ensure the participation of children, young people and families in the 
Looked After and child protection processes, including a report on feedback from parents 
and family members who have attended child protection conference, which indicates a 
high level of satisfaction with the child protection processes and with parental support 
and involvement in this area of work. 

• The performance of the IRO team in terms of numbers of reviews undertaken for children 
subject to child protection and looked after processes and developments such as the 
introduction of statutory Looked After Reviews for all relevant children with disabilities 
who are having overnight short breaks. 

• The report gives details of current IRO caseloads including children looked after and 
subject to child protection plans and discusses the capacity issues for the IRO service 
and management arising to meet local and national performance targets. 

• Identifying the administrative challenges and support. 

1.5  IROs also contribute to a range of other statutory and non-statutory functions on behalf of the 
local authority and the Local Safeguarding Children Board, including: 

• Independently chairing all Initial and Review Child Protection Conferences in respect of 
children ‘at risk’ of significant harm or subject to a Child Protection Plan; 

• Representing children’s social care within Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements 
(MAPPA) in respect of sex and violent offenders; and 

• Delivering a range of safeguarding children training 

• IRO explicitly link with a performance surgeries for looked after children and safeguarding 

• IRO attend the missing from care and home multi agency panel  

1.6  National developments -  The Department for Education has undertaken a recent review 
of the role of the IRO in relation to their impact on the outcomes of looked after children and 
whether the current statutory duties and guidance about their role are still appropriate. The 
review took account of submissions from key voluntary organisations; recent Ofsted 
inspection reports; interim findings from the Family Justice Review and 1,500 children’s 
views of the IRO role commissioned by the Children’s Rights Director  

 The review concluded, “the IRO role, if effective, is a crucial part of the accountability 
mechanism for ensuring that children in care receive a first-class service from local 
authorities.” Both the Family Justice Review and Roger Morgan’s(Children’s Rights Director 
for England) survey show strong support for the IRO by recognising their importance and 
distinctive role in promoting the voice of the child and quality assuring the care planning 
process.

1.7 The Family Justice Review (November 2011), recommends that all ‘local authorities should 
review their Independent Reviewing Officer service to ensure that it is effective’, paying 
particular attention to adherence to guidance regarding IRO caseloads.  

 4 
Page 38



 5 

1.8 The focus of the service over the following 12 months will focus on  

• Focus on the Fundamental Service Review priorities and working with operational 
services and partners to deliver on  

o improving outcomes for children  
o securing permanence and adoption for children 
o safely reducing the number of children looked after  
o reducing delays for children  

• Contribute to the improving performance and development of performance dashboard for 
the IRO service focusing on the quality of care planning and reporting arrangements for 
IRO functions particularly around adoption and permanency planning,  

2. Options considered and recommended proposal 

Not relevant 

3. Results of consultation undertaken 

Not relevant 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 

Not relevant 

5. Comments from Director of Finance and Legal Services 

5.1 Financial implications - There are no specific financial implications. 

5.2 Legal implications –  

6. Other implications 

None

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's key objectives / corporate 
priorities (corporate plan/scorecard) / organisational blueprint / Local Area 
Agreement (or Coventry Sustainable Community Strategy)?

The role of the Independent Reviewing Officer provides for an independent oversight of how 
the Local Authority exercises it's statutory responsibilities towards the children in it's care as 
Corporate Parent and towards children in need of protection within the cit, and individual 
review, and monitoring of the care planning for all children who are looked after by Coventry. 
The Annual  IRO Report therefore provides information on how these responsibilities are 
being undertaken, both by the IRO Service and by the Local Authority. 

6.2 How is risk being managed? 

There are some risks associated with the capacity of the IRO Service to meet all its statutory 
responsibilities in the light of the increase in child protection plans and the consistently high 
numbers of Looked After children.  The consequences of this are that IRO caseloads remain 
significantly higher than recommended in the Care Planning, Placements and Case Review 
Regulations 2010 (The CYPA 1989 Regulations and Statutory Guidance) and the IRO 

Page 39



Handbook 2010, and that the timescales for the electronic records of these meetings are not 
always met.   

These risks are met through a clear strategy agreed between the Safeguarding Children 
Service managers, the IROs and the Business Support Centre staff around the prioritisation 
of child protection minutes completion on Protocol.  Child protection reviewing timescales are 
prioritised, and the timeliness of these have been maintained.   

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 

The impact of the capacity issues addressed above is that the IRO Service has to prioritise 
the areas of responsibility it can focus on, with the result that developmental work has not 
been progressed as effectively and some key performance indicators, e.g. Looked After 
Review and Initial child protection conference timeliness, have been affected.  

6.4 Equalities / EIA  

An Equality Impact Assessments (EIA) requires updating in the light of the new requirements 
and is scheduled for completion in 2013.The groups impacted by these matters are Looked 
After children, children in need of protection and their parents, children with disabilities, and 
adults who work with children and young people through the Safeguarding procedures in 
relation to concerns and allegations against this group.

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment 

None

6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 

The arrangements for partnership working with child protection and other partner agencies 
are scrutinised through the LSCB.  The IRO Service has a role in identifying key issues for 
partner agencies working with children and young people around how they are exercising 
their responsibilities towards these vulnerable groups. 

 6 
Page 40



Report author(s): 

Name and job title: Celia East, Quality Assurance Manager 

Directorate: Children Learning and Young People 

Tel and email contact:
02476 833443 
Celia.east@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 

Contributor/approver
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:   

Other members

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers and 
members)

  

Finance: Name Paul Whitmore  Finance & legal 15.08.12

Legal: Name Julie Newman Finance & legal 

Jivan Sembi Head of 
Safeguarding  

14.08.12

Colin Green  Director of CLYP 14.08.12

Neelesh Sutaria Head of HR 14.08.12

This report is published on the council's website: 
www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings

 7 
Page 41



 8 

Appendices

Appendix 1.  Red Amber Green Looked After Care Plan Quality Assurance doc. 

Appendix 2.  Case examples 

Appendix 3.  Regional IRO Pledge 

Appendix 4. The views of parents and young people who attend Initial and Review child 
protection meetings – Report on Feedback forms. 

Page 42



Coventry City Council 

Children Learning & Young People 
Directorate

Independent Reviewing Service

Annual Report

April 2011 to March 2012 

1Page 43



Annual Report of the Coventry Independent Reviewing Officers  

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 This is the third Annual Report of the Coventry IRO Service, Located in the 
Safeguarding Children Service within the Children Learning and Young 
People's Directorate.  The report covers the period from 1st April 2011 to 31st

March 2012.

1.2   Two key pieces of legislation and national guidance relating to both Child 
Protection and Looked After processes which are both specifically relevant to 
the IRO role.   These are the

 Care Planning, Placements and Case Review Regulations and the IRO 
Handbook

 Working Together to Safeguard Children 2010.

1.3 The Care Planning, Placements and Case Review Regulations and the IRO 
Handbook statutory guidance is part of a suite of new guidance issued in 2010 
to set out how local authorities should fulfil their responsibilities in relation to 
care planning and the placement and review of plans for Looked After 
Children and was implemented April 2011. 

1.4 The Independent Reviewing Officer Handbook 2010, (the statutory guidance 
for Independent Reviewing Officer services) requires that an Annual Report is 
provided for the Lead Member with responsibility for children, young people 
and corporate parenting, on the work undertaken by the IRO service.   

 This sets out that the report must:  

'Identify good practice but should also highlight issues for further development, 
including where urgent action is needed'. IRO Handbook 2010 

1.3 It should also cover: 

 The  procedures for resolving concerns, the local dispute resolution 
process and an analysis of the issues raised and the outcomes; 

 The development of the IRO service, caseloads, make up of the team 
and how it reflects the identity of the Looked After children population 

 The extent of participation of children and their parents; 

 The number of reviews that are held on time and the number that are held 
out of time with reasons for this 

 Whether any resource issues are putting at risk the delivery of a quality 
service to all looked after children. 

2Page 44



1.4  This report will focus largely on the two main areas of responsibility for the 
Independent Reviewing Officers - Looked After care planning and reviewing, 
and Child Protection planning and reviewing processes.

 Statutorily the Annual Report of the IRO is not required to consider child 
protection processes but as these are an integral part of the IRO role in 
Coventry, this report will include information regarding the IRO team’s child 
protection activity. 

 A brief summary of the other roles and responsibilities undertaken by the IRO 
service is included, and also a final section on priorities for 2012-13. 

2.0 Current Structure and Management of the IRO Service in Coventry 
'the development of the IRO service including information on caseloads, 
continuity of employment and the make up of the team and how it reflects the 
identity of the children it is serving' 
IRO Handbook 2010 

2.1 Staffing 

The IRO establishment increased from 8 full time equivalent (fte) IROs in 
2010/11 to 10.5 fte  IROs ( 12 post holders) in 2011/12 and they are managed 
by the Review and Quality Assurance Manager. This represents a significant 
increase in managerial and supervision responsibilities. 

2.2 The CLYP Leadership considered the reviewing officer capacity in the light of 
the Safeguarding and Looked After Children Ofsted Inspection of 2011.

The Inspection report concluded that, 'the independent reviewing officers 
workloads are too high due to the numbers of children looked after, and there 
is insufficient capacity for them to meet all the requirements of the new 
statutory guidance on care planning, especially in relation to spending time 
with children and monitoring the effectiveness of care planning between 
statutory reviews."  And recommended:

Within three months: 
the Children, Learners and Young People Service should ensure there is 
sufficient capacity for independent reviewing officers to meet all the 
requirements of the Care Planning, Placement and Care Review (England) 
Regulations 2010' 

2.3 As a result additional IRO capacity was agreed in 2011 to address:

1. Statutory duties under the Short Breaks Statutory Guidance, which is 
part of the Care Planning, Placement and Care Review (England) 
Regulations 2010',  to enable the Local Authority to meet its statutory 
obligations as Coventry had not previously been fully compliant with 
these regulations because there was insufficient capacity in the IRO 
team to undertake this role. 

1 fte IRO post to address an estimated 100 short breaks reviews  

3Page 45



2. To address the new IRO responsibilities and caseloads outlined by 'The 
Care Planning, Placements and Case Review Regulations 2010 (The 
CYPA1989 Regulations and Statutory Guidance)' and 'The IRO 
Handbook 2010' and to address the increase in Child Protection Plans 
and Looked After children. 

I.5 fte IROs to reduce combined caseloads of CP and LAC to 90-
100 children per fte IRO

3. The fundamental service review of CLYP increased the capacity of the 
service by a further 0.5 fte IRO post which will bring the establishment 
of the service to 11 fte post. Recruitment to this post commenced in 
August 2012. 

2.3  Two new IROs came into post in Dec 2011 and January 2012, and the part 
time IRO took up her post in June 2012.  There was delay in being able to 
recruit to the additional IRO posts that had been created during 2011, and the 
2.5 additional posts were not filled until December 2011 and January and June 
of this year.  This delay was largely due to the extended notice period required 
for staff at this level, CRB checks being undertaken, and the complexities of 
clarifying funding streams for the posts.

There are now 12 individual IROs, with a full time equivalent of 10.4 posts.  10 
IROs hold combined caseloads of both Child protection and Looked After 
cases, and two part time officers specialise, one in  child protection work, and 
one in looked after cases.  

Year Funded
FTE posts

Full time 
IROs

Part time 
IROs

Total no.
post holders

2010/11 8 6 3 9

2011/12 10.5 8 4 12

2.4 In the current group of IROs, four are male and eight are female, two IROs are 
of Asian ethnicity, one is African Carribean and nine are white and enables the 
service to reflect the diversity of the Looked After Children in our care.  
(See table below for ethnicity of current Looked After population) 

Ethnicity of Children Looked After at 31st March 2012

White 421 73%

Asian 30 5.2%

Black 32 5.5%

Mixed 76 13.2%

Chinese and other 18 3.1%

4Page 46



3.0  Role of the Independent Reviewing Officer in Care Planning  

3.1 The quality assurance role of the IRO in all aspects of care planning for 
children requires the establishment of clear principles of: 

 Transparency and clarity around the standards set out in guidance and 
legislation for Looked After care planning  

 A systematic and robust approach to reviewing and monitoring all aspects 
of the case planning for looked after children, achieved through the Red, 
Amber Green QA Notification process,  and

 Constructive questioning and challenge where needed of the Local 
Authority work with looked after children and young people, through the 
Dispute Resolution Process and IRO Management Alerts. 

3.2 The IRO must: 

 Review the Looked After Care plans for all children, and maintain an 
oversight of the Local Authorities' conduct of the child's case, and to  
challenge the Local Authority if the child's needs are not being met and 
there is drift or delay  in delivering on the child's care plan,  

 Where necessary the IRO should escalate this challenge up to and 
including CAFCASS if the IRO's view is that the child's human rights are 
being compromised. 

3.3  Statutory Reviews of Short Breaks for children with disabilities  

3.3.1 Under the Children and Young Persons Act 1989 Regulations and Statutory 
Guidance children who are having overnight stays as a 'short break' provision 
under Section 20, Children Act 1989, should have their care plan regularly 
reviewed.

3.3.2 Over this period the IRO Service has increased the number of Short break 
arrangements it is reviewing from an average of 20, to completing reviews of 
all children now in receipt of short breaks and in need of independent reviews.  
So far this year 64 disabled children have been allocated an IRO, and have 
received a Short Break review (this cohort is in addition to the total of fully 
Looked After children).

3.3.3 The service has an IRO with a strong background in working with children with 
disabilities who has developed a model of undertaking these reviews by 
including informal 'tea time' meetings in Broad Park House, and where 
appropriate, integration of the Annual Education Review with the Looked After 
Review.  This enhances the participation of young people and carers in the 
review process and ensures full integration of the care and education planning 
for these children.  It is planned that this model will be rolled out across all IRO 
and to all Short Break reviews where it is appropriate.

5Page 47



3.4 Quality Assurance Role, the monitoring of the status of LA care plans 
and the Dispute Resolution process 
'Procedures for resolving concerns, including the local dispute resolution 
process including an analysis of the issues raised in dispute and the 
outcomes,' IRO Handbook 2010 

3.1.1 The Red Amber Green (RAG) Care Planning Quality Assurance Notifications 
system for all Care Plans has been in place since 2010. (See Appendix 1). 
This is completed after every review and gives a clear picture of the quality 
and timeliness of the care planning for children in Coventry.

3.1.2 Since January 2010 the care planning for all Looked After Child Reviews has 
been evaluated through a RAG Quality Assurance document.  This provides 
systematic management information and feedback on the status of care 
planning for individual children to social work teams and managers as to the 
status of the care planning for all Looked After children, and is sent with the 
Review decisions to social workers, Team Managers and ISMs after every 
review.

3.1.3 Periodic reports are provided from the completed RAG forms and these 
provide useful information to the Review and QA Manager and the Integrated 
Service Managers in Neighbourhood and Looked After Children Teams. 

3.1.4 This document is part of the procedure for addressing care planning concerns 
between the IRO service and Social work teams. 

Red indicates that there are serious delays or other concerns in relation to the 
care plan for a child, requiring immediate action. 

Amber indicates that there are potential or current concerns or delays that are 
not requiring immediate action but that need to be addressed. 

Green indicates that the planning for a child is appropriate to his/her needs 
and progressing in a timely way and that all significant aspects of the child's 
care are satisfactory. 

3.4.5 Analysis of the Quality Assurance Red Amber Green (RAG) notification
reports completed by IROs between 01/04/2011 and 31/03/2012 identified that 
within that period 1271 RAG forms had been completed.  This is an increase 
of 58 on the previous year. The chart below (see 3.4.9) sets out the analysis of 
care plans by Red Amber or Green status. 

3.4.6 The figures for 2011/12 demonstrate that there has been an improvement in 
the quality of care planning for children since 2010/2011: 

 increase of 8.4%  in 'green ' care plans, i.e. care plans that met children's 
needs fully and where there was no drift or delay than in 2010/11.

 Decrease of 3.9% in Red and 5.5 % Amber plans    

6Page 48



3.4.7 This evidences the impact of the increased responsibilities of the IRO under 
the Care Planning, Placement and Care Review (England) Regulations 2010 
and IRO Handbook 2010, which strengthened the IROs ability to monitor the 
progress of care plans and to challenge more effectively and earlier where 
there is a risk of delay.  Other factors that have also contributing to this 
improvement are: 

 Care planning training provided for all social work staff in 2010/11 

 Development of a LAC tracker and focused tracking of cases by 
managers across service

 Involvement of the Review and Quality Assurance Manager with 
Permanence Panel 

 Increased focus on 'end-to-end care planning' through the FSR, which 
has raised an increased awareness of the importance of good and timely 
care planning for Looked After children.

3.4.8 However in spite of the improved care planning over this period, there remains 
a continued challenge to improve the planning for Looked After children with  
11.1% of cases where care planning is either in delay, drift or where significant 
aspects of the work have not been progressed adequately between reviews. 

3.4.9 LA Care Plans Reviewed in Period 01/04/2010 to 31/03/2011

Quality Assurance Red Amber Green (RAG) notification 

Red Amber GreenTeam

No. % No. % No. %
Total no of 
Care Plans 
Reviewed 

15+ 8 15.1 14 26.4 31 58.5 53 

CDT 17 19.1 13 14.6 59 66.3 89 

L A C 129 13.1 177 39.1 340 57.1 595 

UAS 0 0 2 14.3 12 85.7 14 

NE 16 9.7 44 26.7 105 63.6 165 

NW 4 3.6 31 28.2 75 68.2 110 

RAS 3 7.1 19 45.2 28 73.5 50 

South 12 9.8 50 41 60 49.2 122 

Team not 
recorded

3 4.1 24 32.9 46 63 73 

Total 2011-12 141 11.1 374 29.4 756 59.5 1271 

Total 2010-11 182 15 423 34.9 608 51.1 1213 

7Page 49



3.4.9 An agreed plan for the Data Team to develop an electronic system that could 
be completed directly onto the database by the IROs has not been completed 
due to the capacity of the data team. Once this is in place the information will 
be more accurate and it will be far more economical in terms of staff time and 
resources.

3.5  Dispute Resolution Process and IRO Management Alert
This document was circulated with the Annual Report 2010-2011 and is available on 
request

3.5.1 Dispute Resolution processes have been triggered in 33 cases and 12 
Management Alerts raised.  Currently this information is collected manually by 
the Review and QA Manager and there is work being developed for this to be 
able to report more accurately on the processes and the outcomes.  A number 
of examples have been included in the report to demonstrate the effectiveness 
of this process although there remain challenges in embedding this across 
CLYP as a process that requires prompt attention and responses from social 
work managers.

3.5.2 The Escalation/Dispute Resolution procedure was agreed at Leadership level, 
in February 2011 and it provides a clear framework and an agreed mechanism 
for : 

 Drift, delay and other care planning issues to be addressed robustly within 
clear timescales and at the right management level

 That the IRO can evidence this transparently and 

 That the process is agreed and owned by all relevant managers and staff 
across Children's Social Care. 

3.5.3 The reporting of all Dispute Resolution Management Alerts issued by IROs 
and the outcomes require improved reporting via Protocol but there are 
continued complexities around how this can be achieved.   Some of the 
Dispute Resolution IRO Management Alerts in this period have addressed: 

Delay in delivering key aspects of care planning for Looked After 
children: see Appendix 3, Case Study 1
Unacceptable delay in the completion of a specialist mental health/ 
psychological assessment due to difficulties between agencies in agreeing 
funding responsibilities.  

Suitability of placements and the views of a Looked After children not 
being sought appropriately:  See Appendix 2 case study 2 
A young person's placement in a residential unit being under threat of 
termination due to his anti-social and challenging behaviour. Through the 
IRO's intervention, active support to the young person and co-ordination of 
the professionals involved, the young person was able to articulate the 
problems that were causing his behaviours.  He was helped to take 
responsibility for resolving the problems and negotiating a way forward that 
resulted in the placement being preserved.  He remains successfully in the 
placement.

8Page 50



Delays in achieving permanency for Looked After children  
Recent research has highlighted the damage to children when they are in a 
situation that is not permanent even where the standards of care are good. 
The IRO team recognised that there was a significant difficulty in 
progressing these 'links' and getting them agreed formally through the 
Permanency Panel.  One IRO who had a number of children in this 
situation on his case load took the lead in co-ordinating an escalation of all 
the cases to senior managers.  He liaised closely with the relevant Head of 
Service, ISMs and IROs to ensure that there was a complete list of all 
children in need of long term linking and played a significant role in 
addressing these delays and ensuring that there are now effective 
processes in place to secure formal 'permanency' for children with long 
term carers. 

The care plan not being appropriate to meet the child's needs:   
See Appendix 3, Case Study 3. 
Concern about the continued risks to two vey young children whom the 
court made subject to full Care Orders at home with father after five older 
siblings had been removed because of serious neglect.  Both the Local 
Authority and IRO had serious concerns about the court care plan.  The 
tenacity and determination of the IRO to address the concerns robustly led 
to a change of plan for the work with this family and to a greatly increased 
level of input.  The parent subsequently started cooperating better with 
Social Care and improved their standard of parenting. 

Delays in initiating care proceedings in line with the agreed Looked 
After Care plan or Child Protection plan,

 Care plans and pathway plans not being completed or progressed 
appropriately,
See Appendix 3, Case 4 - IRO Management alert re lack of 'homefinding' 
for a sibling group of 6. 

 Lack of progress on 'homefinding' for a very young child who was subject 
to a Placement Order, and who had already experienced the breakdown of 
one adoption placement. That child has now been placed with adopters 
and an adoption application will be made shortly. 

 Wider issues of good practice and professional standards      
(see Appendix 3, Case example 5) 

3.5.3 Whilst at the moment it is not possible to provide clear information about the 
outcome of all 33 dispute resolution processes, of the seven examples given 
here, five have been resolved to the IROs satisfaction.  The issue of agency 
responsibility for funding of specialist assessments is the subject of ongoing 
work and the outcome of the IRO Management Alert re homefinding for a 
sibling group of six is not clear, although active work has been started on the 
search for placements. 

3.5.4 In spite of the RAG and Dispute Resolution processes having been agreed at 
Leadership level over twelve months ago there remain ongoing issues around 

9Page 51



the ownership of these processes by operational managers and at times IROs
do continue to experience difficulties with receiving timely or sufficiently 
mindful responses, and often need to be very tenacious in their challenge in 
order to achieve a satisfactory resolution. 

3.6 Referrals to CAFCASS 

3.6.1 The Care Planning, Placements and Case Review Regulations set out that the 
IRO has a duty to address and seek resolution concerning any delay or drift in 
relation to the planning for Looked After Children, and that where this cannot 
be resolved through the Local Authority's internal dispute resolution 
processes.

3.6.2 Referral to CAFCASS should no longer be seen as a last resort and can be 
considered at any time. The intention of this change is to reinforce the 
authority of the Independent Reviewing Officer to challenge poor practice. 
Where this is not possible, the IRO should refer the concern to CAFCASS. 

3.6.3 The IROs have sought advice from the CAFCASS legal advice line and no
cases have been formal referred to the service.

3.6.4 A joint protocol has been reviewed with CAFCASS in June 2012 and 
agreement to meet regularly between the IROs and CAFCASS has been 
secured.

4.0  Children and Young People's Participation 

4.1 In Coventry the IROs have a very positive focus on the participation of children 
in care in their reviews.  In both child protection and looked after plans, the 
IRO must ensure that the child’s needs are ascertained, understood and taken 
into account.

4.2  The IRO team continue to prioritise the involvement and participation of 
children and young people in their Looked After reviews, and wherever they 
can will also maintain some contact with children between reviews.  The 
Annual Regional IRO Conference in 2011 focussed specifically on children's 
participation in the Care planning and Review process.  This was attended by 
most of the Coventry IROs and from it; a Regional IRO Pledge was 
developed, (Appendix 2 Regional IRO conference pledge).

4.3 For statistical purposes, participation can be through physical attendance 
where the child actively contributes, through a representative (ie advocate), or 
written consultation, or discussion with the IRO prior to the meeting.  Where 
none of the aforementioned applies, or a child attends but does not contribute 
to the discussion, this is counted as non-participation.

4.4 The service aspires to 100% participation for LAC reviews.

2011 - 91.6% of children subject to a LAC review participated 

 2012-  90% of children subject to a LAC review participated

10Page 52



89

89.2

89.4

89.6

89.8

90

90.2

90.4

90.6

90.8

91

2011 2012

L
A

C
 P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

 i
n

 R
e
v
ie

w
s
 (

%
)

Percentage of Looked After Children Participating in Reviews

4.5 The Case examples below outline how IROs ensured the participation of 
young people and how they make sure that young persons views and wishes 
are fully addressed in decision making. The first case is around the decision 
about a young persons legal status, and the second is in relation to a young 
person's wishes about the sharing of information with a parent who has 
rejected and abandoned him. Both cases have been anonymised. 

Case Example 1- N, aged 17
N and his older sister S had been placed in long term foster care for a number 
of years.  His sister had moved on to independence for the placement.  The 
question of whether the legal status should change had been under scrutiny 
for some time with consideration of whether the carers should apply for an 
SGO. There were a number of discussions in the Reviews and between 
Reviews about this. N was very much part of this and once he had all the 
information helped the Review come to the conclusion that meant his current 
legal status remained appropriate (Care Order).  N himself expressed the 
following views: 

1. He didn't need his legal status to be changed as he has a very strong 
emotional attachment to his foster carer who he calls mum. He has a very 
healthy understanding of his life history and has been very clear about who he 
wants in his life. He has been able to make this clear both formally and 
informally. Although his Foster Carers separated a couple of years ago he still 
regards the male carer as his dad and has kept in touch with him (visiting 
regularly).

2. N wanted to know how a change in legal status would affect his entitlement 
to After Care Services and made an independent assessment of that and 
decided that he wanted to gain all the benefits of a Care Leaver. 

11Page 53



3. He raised the issue of fairness in the Review in February and that he felt 
awkward about this as his sister who is 19 now would feel different if an SGO 
for her was to be pursued. 

4. More important to her was the issue of her surname.  Her biological father is 
not the man named on the birth certificate and she had therefore been given 
the name of her mother's partner whose abuse of her and her sister had 
caused her to become Looked After. 

She (and her sister) became "known as" Foster Carers surname some years 
ago at N's request. She wanted to know what she could do about the name on 
her birth certificate, and she was advised that this cannot be changed, but she 
can change her surname by Deed Poll. She is satisfied with this. Again she 
was the one who raised this originally.

N has shown great maturity with the above issues and felt comfortable in 
discussing this openly within the Review and with the Reviewing Officer. I 
have known N for over 10 years and she has been to every one of her 
Reviews bar one (she was on a trip) and therefore she has grown up knowing 
her view is important and the decision over her legal status has been very 
much led by her opinions about it. The Local Authority's views can be 
overwhelming for young people in care but N has been able to air views 
openly and without any form of confrontation. She has also been helped by 
her relationship with her carer.

Case Example 2- A , aged 16
A is 16 years old and has been in residential care in Coventry for a year 
following systematic rejection and emotional abuse by his parent and 
stepparent.

Despite refusing to care for her son,  Adam 's mother made attempts to disrupt 
his placement, making repeated complaints to, and unreasonable demands of 
the LA and his carers. 

In December 2011, A’s family moved to another part of the country making no 
contact with A or the Local Authority about their plans and leaving no 
forwarding address.

This was an extremely distressing time for A who was in the process of sitting 
exams and was concerned about his future.   A was in contact with the IRO at 
this time in respect of placement issues, but also expressed concern about his 
legal situation given his mother's 'abandonment'. He was anxious about the 
rights his parent still had to affect his life and whether he could now choose to 
restrict information given to her. 

The IRO sought detailed written legal advice on A's behalf and met with him to 
share this and discuss implications/options open to him. After consideration by 
A, a way forward re information sharing and parent’s potential involvement in 
future decision making was agreed formally within the LAC Review, which was 
then implemented by the SW.   A was happy with the outcome. 

12Page 54



5.0  Performance Information on Looked After Children.

5.1 Timeliness of Looked After Reviews  
The number of reviews that are held on time, the number that are held out of 

 time and the reasons for the ones that are out of time.  
(IRO Handbook 2010) 

The target for Looked After Reviews held on time in Coventry is 95% 
The performance for 2011/2012 was 92% on time and this is in the context of 
very stretched capacity to manage continuing high caseloads of both Child 
Protection and Looked After children, and the need for initial child protection 
conferences to be prioritised over booked Looked After Reviews at times 
when there has been pressure on the team to meet high demand for child 
protection conferences

Year Coventry All England 

2008/09 94.6% 90.9%

2009/10 96.8% 90.5%

2010/11 91.9% Not available

2011/12 92% Not available 

5.1.1 The major factors contributing to this target not being met have been the 
consistent increase in child protection work - combined with the numbers of 
Looked After children remaining relatively high and the enhanced 
responsibilities of the IRO under the Care Planning, Placement and Care 
Review(England) Regulations 2010. 

13Page 55



5.1.2 An audit of all late reviews demonstrated that almost all were one to two days 
 out of timescale. There are a number of reasons why a review might be 
 held out of timescale. 

 Lack of availability of a key stakeholder, e.g. the child or other significant 
person

 Demands of the service on either IROs or Social workers that mean the 
review cannot be held on the planned date because of service pressures 
and team capacity issues.  This has been a more common occurrence 
over recent months as the increase in initial child protection conferences 
has led to IROs having to move Looked After Reviews in order to chair 
additional child protection conferences. Wherever possible the IRO will 
seek to keep the Looked After Review within timescale. Where this has 
been necessary the Review and QA Manager has had oversight of this and 
has signed it off. Some reviews have been delayed by one or two days due 
to miscalculations by the IRO.

 The lengthy recruitment process for the additional IROs (see 2.3 above)  
resulted in the service having to absorb the increased workload pressures 
for most of 2010-2011 particularly when the needs for appropriate 
induction and training of new staff for this complex role are taken into 
account.

5.1.3 Adjournment of Reviews

Care Planning, Placement and Care Review (England) Regulations 2010 
allow for the IRO to decide to postpone the Looked After Review even if this 
means that it would go 'out of timescale' if he/she decides that there is 
insufficient information, outstanding reports or assessments or other 
paperwork that would compromise the reviews purpose.

The IRO deciding that the review needs to be adjourned and rebooked 
because there is insufficient information available for the Review to make 
decisions about the child's care plan.

There is currently no way of reporting on this on Protocol 

5.2 Allocation of an IRO within 5 days of the child becoming Looked After 

All children who become looked after must now have a named allocated IRO, 
and this includes children having a series of Short breaks under Section 20 
Children Act 1989 and any who are compulsorily looked after such as those 
remanded by the court to local authority accommodation or placed on a 
Secure Order on Welfare grounds.

There is currently no way of reporting on this on Protocol and this is currently 
under review. 

14Page 56



5.2.1 The IRO Service in Coventry ensures that all newly accommodated Looked 
After children are allocated an IRO within 5 working days of becoming looked 
after via a weekly allocation meeting attended by IROs. Allocation of cases 
may take place between meetings to ensure that the 5 day timescale is met. 

5.2.2 It is currently not possible for Protocol to provide a report on the number of 
children allocated an IRO within 5 days but the current processes of allocating 
all newly Looked After children at least weekly should ensure that this is 
achieved in all cases where the correct information is put onto protocol by the 
social work team. 

5.2.3 The main reasons why a child may not have an allocated IRO within 5 days 
are:

 The Service has not been informed of the child becoming looked after.  

 To align child protection and looked after reviewing processes to ensure 
that the child protection meeting and looked after review are chaired by the 
same IRO in single meeting wherever possible.  

 The notification of newly accommodated children now takes place through 
an electronic alert on Protocol and while there have been some delays in 
notification of newly accommodated children due to incorrect or late 
completion of the record, the use of Protocol to identify newly 
accommodated children has improved the ability of the Safeguarding 
Children Service to allocate newly Looked After children promptly to an 
IRO.

5.3   Caseloads

5.3.1 In last annual report covering the period 2010/2011 we reported combined CP 
and LAC caseloads for full time equivalent IRO ranging from 110 and 145 
cases for a full time IRO. It was anticipated that the increase in IRO capacity 
would reduce caseloads to 100 per full time equivalent. 

5.3.2 In March 2012 the caseload per full time equivalent IRO ranged from: 
Looked After Children     60 to 85 children  
Child Protection Plans     Average of 43  
Average combined CP and LAC caseload  100 and 125.  

Whilst the appointment of IROs in 2012 has reduced average caseloads they 
remain considerably higher than the recommended caseloads of 50-70 
children in the IRO Handbook.

The table below sets out caseloads for IROs at the end of July 2012. This 
shows combined caseloads for most IROs are well above 100, with the more 
established IROs having caseloads of up to 140, as the majority of the 
increased child protection work has fallen to them.  

15Page 57



IROs caseloads at the end of July 2012 

FTE CP LAC*** Total

Full time 1 32 76 108 

1 24 75 99

1 46 63 109

1 * 13 52 65

1 68 72 140

1 * 18 51 69

1 71 62 143

1 62 74 146

Part Time 0.8 36 76 112 

0.2 18 17 35

0.4 * 13 13

0.6 N/A 37 37 + ** 

0.6 87 N/A 87

Total 10.6 475 668 1163

* 'Newly Appointed IROs whose caseloads are being built up  

** Position of Trust Strategy meetings 
*** including 64 short break reviews 

5.3.3 It was anticipated that of the total increase in IRO capacity, 1.5 fte post would 
directly address the combined caseload for a full time IRO down to under 100, 
but the increase in child protection plans (see 6.1) and continuing high Looked 
After numbers (see table  below) have impacted on this.

5.3.3 A further 0.5 IRO post was agreed through the FSR which will contribute to 
reducing caseloads.  However if the child protection number do continue to 
rise as projected the team will continue to be very stretched and will 
experience caseloads well in excess of that recommended by the statutory 
guidance.

5.3.4 This compromises the IROs ability to meet their statutory responsibilities under 
Care Planning, Placement and Care Review (England) Regulations 2010. 

 6.0  Child Protection Processes

 6.1 Child Protection Plans 2011-2012 

Increase in children on child protection plans from 2007 to 2012 

March 2007 185

March 2008 181

March 2009 300 Increased by 39.6% 

March 2010 292

March 2011 352 A further increase of 17% 

March 2012 423 A further increase of 20% 

16Page 58



6.2 The table above demonstrates that there has been a consistently maintained 
increase in the number of children with child protection plans over the past 5 
years.

6.3 Performance against Review timescales for Child Protection Plans  

2010 2011 2012Child Protection Cases 

which were reviewed 

within required 

timescales

100 % 99.3% 99.7% Increase from last 

year.  1 case was 

not reviewed within 

timescales

6.4  Additionally, the proportion of children becoming looked after who are already 
subject to child protection processes has increased markedly. This indicates 
an increase in court work and permanency planning for these very young 
children where serious concerns about their parenting have arisen at such an 
early age.

Children subject to child protection plans who become looked after  

2011 2012

Number CP Plans ended 
in year 303 318

Number of CP to LAC in 
year 76 91

% CP to LAC 25.1% 28.6%

An overall increase of 3.5%
39.9% of under 4 year olds 

 59% for 1 year olds

17Page 59



6.4.1   The chart below demonstrates the correlation between child protection plans 
and children becoming looked after in June 2012

6.2 Parental and Child/ Young Person involvment in Child Protection 
Conferences

6.2.1 The Safeguarding Children Service continues to prioritise the participation of 
parents and where appropriate, older children, in the child protection 
processes.  All the IROs spend time with parents and any young people who 
attend conferences, before the meeting, preparing them for the meeting, 
explaining the processes and how the meeting will be conducted, and 
ensuring that they feel as able as possible to share their views and participate 
in the decision making.   

6.2.2 Over the past year we have developed and introduced a feedback form to 
collect systematically the views of parents and young people who attend Initial 
and Review child protection meetings about their views and experience of 
these meetings. The forms ask for views about how well the participants felt 
they were prepared for the conference, whether the arrangements to support 
them to participate were helpful or not and whether the meeting helped them 
to understand what the child protection problems are, how the plan is meant to 
tackle these issues effectively and whether in their view it will be helpful.  

6.2.3 This form was introduced in January 2012, and all parents, and other key 
family members, who attend the meetings have been asked by the Chair to 
complete the feedback form after every meeting.  The forms are completed 
anonymously, and 96 forms have been completed in all. A full report is 
included as Appendix 5 with graphs showing the outcome of this analysis, 
some of the key outcomes have been highlighted below. 

18Page 60



6.2.4 Relationship of Questionnaire Respondent to the child : 

Father

28%

Grandmother

4%

Mother

57%

No Response

1%

Both Parents

8%

Mother & 

Stepfather/ 

Partner

2%

In the sample there were responses from 16 mothers, 12 fathers and 2 
 grandmothers.  

6.2.5 Did any other professional talk to you about the information they would 
be sharing in the meeting? 

   

No
22%

No Response
2%

Yes
76%

The analysis indicates that information sharing by social workers and others to 
prepare parents for child protection conferences is quite good, although there 
is potential for improvement in this area, with 22% of respondents indicating 
that professionals had not shared information with parents/grandparents 
before the conference.

19Page 61



6.2.6 Did it help to talk to the Chair before the meeting? 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60
N

o
. 
o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

s
e
s

Responses 1 2 38 53 1 1

Not at all 

Helpful

Not very 

Helpful

Quite 

Helpful

Very 

Helpful
N/A

No 

Response

A very high proportion of the respondents, 91 out of 96, felt that the practice of 
meeting the Chair of the conference before the start of the meeting was 
helpful. This enables the Chair to explain the agenda for the meeting, help the 
parent or other adult to understand the concerns and how the meeting will be 
conducted to ensure the best and safest outcome for the child and family, to 
set clear expectations for behaviour and to prepare the adults to express their 
views and opinions in the meeting as well as possible.  Similarly most 
appreciated the practice of taking parents into the conference room before the 
rest of the professionals.

6.2.7 Do you understand what needs to change to make things better for your 
child in the future? 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

N
o

. 
o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

s
e

s

Responses 1 1 17 76 1

Not at all Not very well Quite well Completely
No 

Response

20Page 62



Most positively there was a very strong response to the questions around the 
parents/grandparents understanding of the plan made at conference, with 93 
saying that they understood quite well or completely what needed to change.  
This is a very important question, since parents and other adults in the family 
stand a far better chance of making the changes needed if they understand 
what needs to change and how.

6.2.8 Do you think the plan that was discussed in the meeting will help you to 
make these changes? 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

N
o

. 
o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

s
e

s

Responses 0 4 23 68 1

Not at all Not very well Quite well Completely
No 

Response

6.3 The number of respondents who felt that the plan was either quite or very 
helpful in helping them to make the necessary changes was 91 out of a total of 
96.  Again this is a very high proportion and is very encouraging in terms of 
the conference success in helping parents and family members to take on 
board and understand the seriousness of the concerns and the way in which 
they can be supported to keep their children safer in future. 

6.4 There is still potential to increase the number of older children who can take a 
meaningful part in the Child Protection process. It is not always possible or 
appropriate to include children at the Initial Conference stage, partly due to the 
timescale not allowing for an advocate to be allocated and then to meet with 
and prepare the child.  However this could be achieved more consistently with 
review conferences and older young people can have a valuable contribution 
to make in sharing their views about the child protection issues under 
discussion.

 It is planned that now the feedback form from parents has been introduced 
and is being routinely offered to parents and other family members, Chairs will 
now start to share the feedback form for children and young people (see 
Appendix 6) 

21Page 63



7.0 Administration of Child Protection and  Looked After processes 

In 2011 the administration support for the service transferred to the Business 
Services. The increase in LAC and CP numbers continues to place significant 
pressures on the capacity to deliver on the agreed timescales for production 
and circulation of minutes and ensuring timely recording on the Protocol 
system

7.1 Administration of Child Protection Conferences

Working Together to Safeguard Children 2010 ( p 5.111) sets out the need to 
ensure that all” child protection conferences, both initial and review should 
have dedicated administrative person to take notes and produce a record of 
the meeting. The record of the conference is a crucial working document for all 
relevant professionals and the family” 

7.1.1 In Coventry all child protection conferences are supported by experience 
minute taker. The increase in child protection plans have led to significant 
backlogs in producing a record of conferences. In 2010 the staffing capacity 
within the service was increased by 1 fulltime equivalent post and increased 
capacity within the team to 5.2 fte Minute Secretaries.

In recognition of the need to streamline and modernise our child protection 
processes, the service undertook a Lean Review in 2012 involving key 
stakeholders from the range of agencies involved in this work.      

7.1.2 A comprehensive plan was agreed aimed at: 

 Streamlining processes for child protection conferences

 Introducing the use of laptops to speed the production of minutes 

 Developing standards to ensure a more consistent and concise standard of 
minutes

 More timely distribution of outcomes and minutes 

7.1.3  Thematic chairing and minuting of conhferences has been introduced, which 
enables more clarity of focus on the critical issues and a quicker production of 
child protection minutes.  Over the last year the work aimed at the 
development of thematic chairing and minuting of conferences has progressed 
well and this practice has been embed across IROs and minuteing staff with 
clearly agreed standrds and timescles.  

7.1.4 Most minuteing secretaries have been porvided with laptops, and all but one 
of them are able to use these routinely in meetings to take 'thematic' minutes 
which in most cases can be turned into completed minutes far more quickly 
than shorthand or longhand. 

22Page 64



7.1.5 However in spite of this there remains a very considerable backlog of child 
protection minutes. During most of 2011 this was maintained at a level of 
around 120 sets of minutes, with the number outstanding at the end of 
December 2011 being 135.  Throughout 2012 the backlog has increased 
rapidly, and currently, (August 2012) stands at 220.  This has been due to a 
number of factors, including the very significant increase in the demand for 
child protection conferences over this period, a change in management 
arrangements for the child protection minute secretaries,  the difficulty in 
recruiting suitably skilled and experienced staff who want to do this very 
challenging role, and some staffing issues, including long term sick leave. 

7.1.6  The backlog of minutes has required a jointly agreed plan which is robustly 
monitored by operational managers on a weekly basis, and by the Leadership 
Teams of both the Children Learning and Young People’s and Customer and 
Workforce Development Directorates 

7.2 Administrtaion of Looked After Reviews  

7.2.1 The IRO is responsible for completing a record of the review and ensuring that 
the record addresses all the issues required by the Care Planning Regulations 
and the IRO Handbook.  The completion of the record of the review is 
completed by either by the recording the review on dictaphones which are 
then processed into word documents by the Business Centre or by the IRO 
themselves.

7.2.2 The guidance sets the following timescales for producing record of reviews:

1. The IRO should produce a written record of the decisions or 
recommendations made within five working days of the completion of 
the review. 

In Coventry IROs meet this requirement for most reviews

2. The IRO should produce a full record of the review within 15 working 
days of the completion of the review. 

The current caseloads of the IROs and capacity within the Business 
Services Centre have meant that we have not been able consistently 
meet this target

3. The full written record of the review, including the decisions, should be 
distributed within 20 working days of the completion of the review to all 
those who attend the review. 

The current caseloads of the IROs and capacity within the Business 
Services Centre have meant that we have not been able consistently to 
meet this target

7.2.4  The ability to report on the three timescales has not been possible due to 
Protocol issues, but a reporting mechanism is being developed with the 
Information Management Team. 

23Page 65



8.0 Other areas of work covered by the IRO Team

 The IROs provide a daily consultation service to advice and support to 
professionals across all agencies about child protection processes 

 . 

 They provide advice and consultation on the guidance and systems around 
'people in a position of trust' and convene the strategy meetings held under 
these processes. 

 They represent Coventry Safeguarding Children Service at Multi Agency 
Public Protection meetings and at the Multi Agency Steering Panel for 
children missing from home and care. 

 IROs regularly contribute to the child protection and Looked After children 
training and development. 

 Performance Surgeries 

9.0 Service Development Priorties for 2012-13

 Continuing to develop more robust and systematic data collection 
processes and reporting. 

 Maintaining performance for timescales for child protection and looked 
after reviews   

Target for CP – 100%  
Target for LAC – 95%    

 In line with the government drive to ensure that children in need of 
adoption and other forms of permanence are moved into permenent 
placements more quickly, IROs will focus on ensuring that care plans are 
progressed in a timely way and that Local Authority and Court processes 
for decision making are supported and challenged robustly where 
necessary.

 Focus on the Fundamental Service Review priorities and working with 
operational services and partners to deliver on
o improving outcomes for children  
o securing permanence and adoption for children 
o safely reducing the number of children looked after  
o reducing delays for children  

 The introduction of a Safeguarding performance 'dashboard' is under 
development and will provide helpful ongoing performance information.  
However difficulties in achieving good reporting on performance due to the 
complexity of the electronic recording systems continue to demand a high 
level of management input and time.  Resolution of the recording and 
reporting issues will need to be a continued focus over the next 12 months 
if accurate performance reporting is to be achieved.

24Page 66



25

 Agreeing Quality Standards for the work of the IROs and developing a 
framework for regular reporting on this. 

 Development of the Role of IRO in Safeguarding and Looked After 
Children Performance Surgeries.

9.0  Appendices  

Appendix 1.  Case examples

Appendix 2.  Red Amber Green Looked After Care Plan Quality Assurance

Appendix 3.  Regional IRO Pledge 

Appendix 4.  Report - Feedback from Parents on Child Protection Meetings 

Celia East 
Review and Quality Assurance Manager 

Jivan Sembi 
Head of Safeguarding 

August 2012 

Page 67



Appendix 1 – CASE  STUDIES

CASE STUDY 1 
Escalation letter sent to Deputy Director re delays in agreeing funding for specialist
psychiatric assessment for Catherine, aged   13 

I am contacting you to raise my concern about the delay in decision making that 
occurred with regards funding of a specialist assessment, and the serious impact that 
this had on a very vulnerable Looked After young person, Catherine, with a request 
that consideration is given to the lessons learned in this case and how these can be 
taken forward in future to avoid this happening again.

Catherine was made the subject of a Secure Order on (date) on welfare grounds. 
She remained there for a number of months.

Whilst at the unit she seriously assaulted and injured another resident.  Because of 
this an assessment of Catherine was needed that would inform both the exit plan 
based on her need and the sentencing exercise on the criminal side. A single judge 
presided over both the criminal matters and the Secure Order hearings. 

2 assessments were completed. One was psychological and the other psychiatric. 
The experts agreed on the therapeutic need but had opposing views regarding the 
required placement type to manage risk from Catherine. 

It was agreed at court that a forensic risk assessment was required. A joint Health 
and Local Authority panel was attended by CSC to seek funding. That panel saw the 
matter as a health need and recommended liaison with the Health commissioner. SW 
spent the next few weeks seeking an answer from health and eventually the court 
directed payment either via court parties or via their own funding. I can provide detail 
of the e mails and calls if that would be helpful but feel that the issue is wider then 
this incident itself. 

As the independent reviewing officer I shared the concern of panel members at the 
secure criteria review and of Catherine herself about the lack of progress towards a 
move on from Secure caused by the delay in a decision being reached about funding 
of the assessment. 

Catherine was being supported by an advocate from the Voice to make a complaint 
in her own right and I supported Catherine via liaison with her local advocate so that 
she could seek resolution to it. I understand now that Catherine has decided not to 
pursue the matter.

 However I feel the matter should not pass without a cause for concern being raised 
at an appropriate level, and the points I am raising for your consideration are that: 

 There was a period of dead time for Catherine when the assessment was not 
progressed and therefore an exit plan could not be agreed.

  She was in a secure unit with restrictions on her liberty and not getting an 
answer about the funding of an assessment was causing her to stay there 
longer then she needed to.

26Page 68



It is my understanding that the cost of the forensic risk assessment was in the 
region of 2.5K whereas the weekly cost of a stay at the secure unit was in the 
region of 7K. Even a week's delay being avoided would have made more 
financial sense but more importantly it would have been a week less in a 
secure unit for a 13 year old child. 

Based on the above I would ask that you consider: 
Is there an agreement that can be made so that when assessments are required for 
children that are in a secure setting the respective budget holders from the relevant 
agencies come to a decision about funding stream more quickly? 

27Page 69



Case  Study  2. 

IRO Action to Promote the Wishes of a Young Person re Adam aged 16

Adam is 16 years old and has been in residential care in Coventry for a year 
following systematic rejection and emotional abuse by his mother and stepfather. 

Despite refusing to care for her son,  Adam 's mother made attempts to disrupt his 
placement, making repeated complaints to, and unreasonable demands of the LA 
and his carers. 

In December 2011, Adam's family sold the family home and moved to another part of 
the country making no contact with Adam or the Local Authority about their plans and 
leaving no forwarding address.

This was an extremely distressing time for Adam who was in the process of sitting 
exams and was concerned about his future. 

Adam was in contact with the IRO at this time in respect of placement issues, but 
also expressed concern about his legal situation given his mother's 'abandonment'. 
He was anxious about the rights his mother still had to affect his life and whether he 
could now choose to restrict information given to her. 

The IRO sought detailed written legal advice on Adam's behalf and met with him to 
share this and discuss implications/options open to him. After consideration by 
Adam, a way forward re information sharing/ mothers potential involvement in future 
decision making was agreed formally within the LAC Review, which was then 
implemented by the SW. 

Adam was happy with the outcome. 

28Page 70



Case Study 3 

P and R,

P, aged 5 and R, aged 2, are two little girls placed at home with their father on full 
Care Orders.  There are a number of older children who had been permanently 
removed from parent's care due to neglect and who had plans of long-term fostering. 
P was born during the care proceedings for her older siblings.

Both parents were assessed in a residential unit in relation to their ability to parent P.  
The outcome of the care proceedings for P was that she should remain at home on a 
full Care Order but with father as the sole carer. Parents could remain as a couple 
but Father was to be responsible for all P's care. When R was born it became clear 
that Mother's mental health had deteriorated and she was having hallucinations that 
she was at risk from those close to her. This resulted in physical attacks against her 
partner and potentially the children.  As a result R was made the subject of a Care 
Order. The court ordered that she and P remain at home with Father so long as 
Mother was not part of the family and that any contact with Mother was supervised by 
Social Care. Mother's mental health has been unstable for many years but since R's 
birth she had been 'sectioned' on several occasions.  There were strong suspicions 
that Father was allowing unsupervised contact between mother and the children and 
concerns about his standards of care.  As a result, the Local Authority and IRO had 
strong reservations about the court care plan, feeling that it may continue to place the 
children at some risk of significant harm. However this case had been presented to 
the court on more than one occasion and the court had made it clear that the Local 
Authority should continue to work on these children being maintained at home with 
their father. 

Concerns raised by IRO in the formal Management Alert: 
 The IRO felt that, despite the court's disposal, Father's care was not good enough – 
he was not co-operating with the working agreement, not demonstrating an 
understanding of concerns that professionals had about the children being neglected 
and put at risk, the home conditions were very poor, the children received very little 
attention or stimulation, and it was suspected that Father was letting Mother see the 
children when Social Care were not present.

The risk of unsupervised contact with Mother was particularly concerning for a 
number of reasons: 

 Because of the risk of the children being caught up in domestic violence 
between parents,

 Because Mother may have hallucinations and/or negative feelings towards the 
children and act upon them

 The impact Mother's low mood can have on the children, e.g. she may reject 
them emotionally. 

In addition the home conditions would have a direct impact upon their emotional and 
social development as well as on them not reaching their academic potential. 

A further perceived risk was that Social Care was at the point of transferring the case 
from the Neighbourhood team to the LAC Team. The family including extended 

29Page 71



family were well known to the neighbourhood office. The social worker (and team) 
had a good working knowledge of the extended family, the child protection risks 
associated with the family, its history and dynamics. The IRO was concerned that to 
transfer the case at this point would have made it easier for parents to avoid 
monitoring and also to have misled any worker taking over.

Outcomes
This alert caused considerable discussion and negotiation as the Local Authority 
view was that the court had made a decision regarding where the children should 
reside and lengthy work over years with this family had not achieved any consistent 
improvement.  However this was resolved to the IRO's satisfaction by the Local 
Authority putting in place a tighter working agreement with father, with increased and 
stricter monitoring, and the case remaining in the district for an additional six months 
to ensure the changes were well embedded before the case was transferred to a new 
worker and team.

In addition Pulse was commissioned for a three month period to do spot checks. The 
house was cleaned from top to bottom, carpets were cleaned and Father decorated 
the home. R was attending nursery everyday, there had been no reports of Mother 
and the children meeting up between reviews (5 month period) and the view of the 
social worker was that Father was working with the working agreement. 

The plan is that if Father can maintain a good enough level of care for the children 
over a prolonged period of time, e.g. 12 - 18 months, and continues to cooperate with 
social care then the Care Order could be revoked. The appropriateness of the 
children's legal status will be considered at every review and the view of the IRO is 
that he would not want these children to remain at home on a full CO indefinitely.

30Page 72



Case Study 4

Independent Review Officer Management Alert Form 

STAGES 1 – 6

Date of
Alert:

28/6/12

From : Independent Reviewing Officer  

To: Team manager, ISM, Head of Service 

Stage Responsible Officer Tick as appropriate 

Stage 1: Team Manager x

Stage 2: Integrated Service Manager x

Stage 3: Head of Service x

Stage 4: Assistant Director, Children's Social Care 

Stage 5: Director of Children, Learning and Young People 

Stage 6: Chief Executive of the Council  

At each stage a formal response is expected within 5 working days 

Name of Child: R x7 DOB:

Social Worker: Team:

SW/ Line Manager:

Summary of concern(s)

As you are aware the above has been a high profile case within Court proceedings, 
with Colin Green making the final decision in respect of the children's permanent 
term placement plans. After lengthy deliberations by the caseholding team, the LAC 
Review and relevant Panels about the option of adoption,  it was finally decided that 
the children would be placed permanently within long term foster care. 

I need to make you aware that I am  raising a formal IRO alert in respect of this case 
in view of the following: 

 After very significant delay within the court proceedings, although the Care 
Plan was clarified in March, I understand that there has been no action to 
seek long term placements for 4 of the children or assessing the long term 
potential of the current foster carers for the other three. This would appear to 
be despite the case having been co- worked by the LAC and neighbourhood 
team since January 2012. The LAC Review on 2/3/12 and transfer summary 
of 28/3/12 recommended urgent homefinding actions to be undertaken has yet 

31Page 73



to be actioned.

I understand that contact between the children has recently become 
problematic and is no longer being promoted by the foster carers. Given that 
the sibling relationship was the key determinant for Colin Green in rejecting an 
adoption plan for the younger children, this is of great concern. The specialist 
sibling report by Shelagh Beckett gives very clear information/ guidance about 
contact needed. 

 There would not appear to be clarity about the placement planning for the 4 
placed together despite the lengthy sibling report by Shelagh Beckett and long 
deliberations about appropriate long term placement combinations. S's 
reported wish currently not to live with her siblings should not deflect the focus 
from the previous assessment of sibling needs. 

 The previously reported possibility of the current foster carers of the 3 other 
children offering SGO now appears to be ruled out and there are reported to 
be strains within the placement. It has been reported that the carers have 
recently given notice in respect of another placement of several years 
duration. This would not inspire confidence in the long term security for the 
children in this placement - given that D is only 3, this is obviously of great 
concern.

Request Action

LAC Reviews scheduled for this week for all 7 children have been postponed for 2 
weeks to allow for urgent action to be taken to progress the above. In particular I will 
be looking for: 

1. Confimation that the sibling placement planning for the group of 4 currently 
placed together is clear.

2. Long term referrals to homefinding/placements have been made for them 
3. Feedback from placements/homefinding re timescale is available to the 

Review
4. Confirmation that assessment for long term status of the carers for the 

younger three has been requested and a timescale for completion 
5. Confirmation of the action planned to address sibling contact in view of the 

current difficulties. 

I am seeking your support in order to address the drift in this case and ensure that 
the casework planning is clear. 

As all of the children are placed in agency foster placements, I do not feel it is 
appropriate to seek placement planning/homefinding input to the Review from 
agency fostering staff. Representation/input from Coventry FPS would be extremely 
helpful.

32Page 74



Response by Social Worker and Practice Manager

Date:

Resolution of Alert (recorded by IRO)

Date:

If not resolved progress to: 

Stage 2  

Stage 3 

Stage 4 

Stage 5 

Stage 6 

33Page 75



Case Study 5 – Professional practice issues. 

Escalation of concerns about professional standards of practice by the IRO to the 
Integrated Service Manager 

I have had to bring to your notice within one week 3 Red RAG notifications for LAC 
reviews for three separate children where there has been an absence of statutory 
visiting ,  partial or no engagement with the cases  , and no up to date or absent  
Pathway Plans ; all over a period since this worker took over of the case. 

Additionally the main carer or residential professionals in all three cases report poor 
or largely absent communication from this worker. 

As this situation is unprecedended in my experience , this email is to formally alert  to 
you that under our escalation procedures within the required 10 days,  I understand 
that there is a requirement for a meeting between  the ISM, TM , Review and QA 
manager and myself   to look at a way forward in this matter . 

I would appreciate your views and I will be in touch to try and convene such a 
meeting . 

Following this communication formal processes were instituted with the member of 
staff and additional supervision put in place to address the concerns raised.   The 
IRO has reported that the workers performance has improved markedly and her 
contribution to Looked After Reviews has been greatly improved to the point where 
another IRO has recently sent her a compliment.  The worker's manager has 
expressed her appreciation of the IRO's effective escalation of this issue, which 
enable her to address it very effectively and the worker has been able to improve his 
performance, professionalism and the quality of his work with young people. 

34Page 76



Appendix 3.  Regional IRO Pledge 

35Page 77



36

Appendix 4.  Report - Feedback from Parents on Child Protection Meetings 

Page 78



T
h
e
 I

R
O

 m
u
s
t 

s
e
le

c
t 
o

n
e
 o

f 
th

e
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 n

o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 f

o
r 

e
a
c
h
 L

o
o
k
e
d
 A

ft
e
r 

R
e
v
ie

w
 a

n
d
 t

ic
k
 t

h
e
 r

e
le

v
a
n
t 

is
s
u
e
s
 o

f 
c
o
n
c
e
rn

. 
W

h
e
re

 
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 a
d
d
 d

e
ta

il 
in

 t
h
e
 c

o
m

m
e
n
ts

 s
e
c
ti
o
n
. 

O
n
e

 o
r 

m
o
re

 c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 s

e
le

c
te

d
 N

o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 c

a
n
 b

e
 t

ic
k
e
d
 a

s
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

. 
 

S
A

F
E

G
U

A
R

D
IN

G
 C

H
IL

D
R

E
N

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

 

Q
U

A
L

IT
Y

 A
S

S
U

R
A

N
C

E
 R

A
G

 N
O

T
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
 

R
E

C
O

G
N

IT
IO

N
 O

F
 E

X
C

E
L

L
E

N
T

 P
R

A
C

T
IC

E
 

C
H

IL
D

/Y
P

 N
a
m

e
: 

C
A

S
E

 N
O

* 

*T
h

is
 i
s
 t

h
e

 '
c

a
s

e
 n

u
m

b
e

r'
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 '
P

e
rs

o
n

a
l'
 t
a

b
 i
n

 t
h

e
 c

h
ild

's
 r

e
c
o

rd
 o

n
 P

ro
to

c
o

l.
 T

h
e

 c
a

s
e

 n
u
m

b
e

r 
c
a

n
 b

e
 i
n

 o
n

e
 o

f 
th

re
e

 
fo

rm
a

ts
, 

e
.g

. 
4

1
2

0
3

8
9

A
 o

r 
C

C
C

0
0

0
0

5
4

4
0

5
P

E
R

 o
r 

4
3

2
3

5
 

N
a
m

e
 o

f 
A

ll
o

c
a
te

d
 W

o
rk

e
r:

 …
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

Q
u

a
li

fi
e

d
 S

W
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

 U
n

q
u

a
li
fi

e
d

 c
a
s
e
h

o
ld

e
r 

  

T
e
a
m

 M
a
n

a
g

e
r:

 
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

T
e
a
m

IR
O

D
a
te

 o
f 

L
o

o
k
e
d

 A
ft

e
r 

R
e
v
ie

w
 

R
A

G
 s

ta
tu

s
 o

f 
th

is
 L

A
C

 C
a

re
 P

la
n

  
R

e
d

 

A
m

b
e

r
 

G
re

e
n

 
 

R
e

c
o

g
n

it
io

n
 o

f 
E

x
c

e
ll

e
n

t 
P

ra
c

ti
c

e
 

 
 

T
h
e
 I

R
O

 w
ill

 t
h
e
n
 m

a
k
e
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t

h
e

 c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
 i
d

e
n
ti
fi
e
d
, 

a
s
 d

e
ta

ile
d
 b

e
lo

w
. 

R
e
d

: 
 

 

 
S

e
ri

o
u

s
 C

o
n

c
e

rn
s
 a

re
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e

d
 a

b
o

u
t 

th
e

 q
u

a
lit

y
 o

f 
C

a
re

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 l
e

a
d

in
g

 t
o

 s
e

ri
o

u
s
 d

ri
ft

 o
r 

d
e

la
y
, 

a
n

d
/o

r 
 

 
S

ta
tu

to
ry

 r
e

q
u

ir
e

m
e

n
ts

 h
a

v
e

 n
o

t 
b

e
e

n
 m

e
t,

 a
n

d
  

 
Im

m
e

d
ia

te
 a

c
ti
o

n
 i
s
 r

e
q

u
ir

e
d

 t
o

 a
d

d
re

s
s
 t

h
is

. 
 

A
m

b
e

r:
C

o
n

c
e

rn
s
 e

x
is

t 
th

a
t 

re
q

u
ir
e

 p
ri

o
ri

ty
 i
n

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
 t

o
 a

d
d

re
s
s
 t

h
e

 d
e

la
y
 i
n

 t
h
e

 c
a

re
 p

la
n

 a
n

d
/o

r 
a

d
d

re
s
s
 

u
n

a
c
c
e

p
ta

b
le

 c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 /

 w
o

rk
in

g
 t

o
g

e
th

e
r 

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

 w
it
h

 c
h

ild
 /

 p
a

re
n

t 
o

r 
p

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a

ls
. 

G
re

e
n

:
C

a
re

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 i
s
 p

ro
g

re
s
s
in

g
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
ly

 a
n

d
 R

e
v
ie

w
 d

e
c
is

io
n

s
 a

re
 b

e
in

g
 a

c
ti
o

n
e

d
 i
n

 a
 t

im
e

ly
 w

a
y
 t

h
a

t 
m

e
e

t 
th

e
 c

h
ild

's
 a

s
s
e

s
s
e

d
 n

e
e

d
s
. 

1

Page 79



 

R
e
d

T
ic

k
D

e
ta

il
s

N
o

 L
o

o
k
e

d
 A

ft
e

r 
C

a
re

 P
la

n
 o

n
 P

ro
to

c
o

l 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
 

 
N

o
  

P
a

th
w

a
y
 P

la
n

 o
n

 P
ro

to
c
o

l 
 

 
 

N
o

 p
e

rm
a

n
e

n
c
e

 o
p

ti
o

n
 s

e
c
u

re
d

 b
y
  

3
rd

 R
e
v
ie

w
 

 
 

S
e

ri
o

u
s
 d

e
la

y
s
 i
n

 c
a

re
 p

la
n

n
in

g
. 

 
 

 
M

in
im

u
m

 n
u

m
b

e
rs

 o
f 

re
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
e

d
 a

c
ti
o

n
s
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 l
a

s
t 

L
A

C
 r

e
v
ie

w
 

h
a

v
e

 b
e

e
n

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
e

d
, 

le
a

d
in

g
 t

o
 d

ri
ft

. 
 

 
C

o
n

c
e

rn
s
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 p

la
c
e
m

e
n

t 
is

 n
o

t 
m

e
e

ti
n

g
 t

h
e

 c
h

ild
/y

o
u

n
g

 p
e

rs
o

n
s
 

n
e

e
d

s
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 p

la
n

 t
o

 a
d

d
re

s
s
 t

h
is

. 
 

 
N

o
 e

v
id

e
n

c
e

 o
f 

p
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
c
h

ild
re

n
 o

r 
y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

 i
n

 
th

e
 c

a
re

 p
la

n
n

in
g

. 
 

 
N

o
 e

v
id

e
n

c
e

 o
f 

p
ro

m
o

ti
n

g
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
p

a
re

n
ts

/c
a

re
rs

 i
n
 t
h

e
 c

a
re

 
p

la
n

n
in

g
. 

 
 

S
ta

tu
to

ry
 v

is
it
s
 n

o
t 

u
n

d
e

rt
a

k
e

n
 w

it
h

in
 t
h

e
 r

e
q

u
ir

e
d
 t

im
e

s
c
a

le
s
. 

 
 

N
o

 P
E

P
 b

y
 t

h
e

 s
e

c
o

n
d

 r
e

v
ie

w
. 

 
 

 
N

o
 H

e
a

lt
h

 p
la

n
 b

y
 t

h
e

 s
e

c
o

n
d

 r
e

v
ie

w
. 

 
 

C
o

m
p

le
x
 c

a
s
e

 a
llo

c
a
te

d
 t

o
 u

n
q

u
a

lif
ie

d
 c

a
s
e

 h
o

ld
e

r 
/ 

o
r 

th
e

 c
a

s
e

 i
s
 

u
n

a
llo

c
a

te
d

 
 

 
C

h
ild

 n
o

t 
s
e
e

n
 o

r 
c
o

n
s
u

lt
e

d
 w

it
h

 b
y
 S

o
c
ia

l 
W

o
rk

e
r 

o
r 

re
p

re
s
e

n
ta

ti
v
e

 
fr

o
m

 S
o

c
ia

l 
C

a
re

 s
in

c
e

 l
a

s
t 

L
A

C
 r

e
v
ie

w
. 

 
 

  

2

Page 80



 A
c

ti
o

n
 R

e
q

u
ir

e
d

 –
 I

R
O

 m
u

s
t 

s
e

le
c

t 
o

n
e

 o
f 

th
e

 f
o

ll
o

w
in

g
 o

p
ti

o
n

s
: 

 T
h

is
 n

o
ti
fi
c
a

ti
o

n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 p

a
s
s
e
d

 t
o

 t
h

e
 r

e
s
p
o

n
s
ib

le
 S

o
c
ia

l 
W

o
rk

e
r/

T
e

a
m

 M
a

n
a

g
e

r/
IS

M
 r

e
q

u
ir

in
g

 a
 r

e
s
p

o
n

s
e

 f
ro

m
 S

W
 a

n
d

 T
M

 w
it
h

in
 2

 

w
e

e
k
s
.

 T
h

e
 I

R
O

 w
ill

 r
e

v
ie

w
 t

h
e

 r
e

s
p

o
n

s
e
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 s

o
c
ia

l 
w

o
rk

e
r 

/ 
te

a
m

 m
a

n
a

g
e

r 
w

it
h

in
 3

 w
e

e
k
s
 o

f 
th

is
 d

a
te

 t
o

 d
is

c
u

s
s
 t

h
e

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 o

f 
th

e
s
e

 i
s
s
u

e
s
. 

 

If
 p

ro
g

re
s

s
 i

s
 l

im
it

e
d

, 
th

e
 I

R
O

 M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

A
le

rt
 w

il
l 

b
e
 t

ri
g

g
e

re
d

. 
 

If
 a

 s
e

c
o

n
d

 R
e

d
 n

o
ti

fi
c

a
ti

o
n

 i
s

 g
iv

e
n

 a
t 

th
e

 n
e

x
t 

re
v

ie
w

, 
th

e
 I

R
O

 M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

A
le

rt
 w

il
l 

b
e
 t

ri
g

g
e

re
d

. 
In

 t
h

is
 c

a
s

e
 t

h
e

 I
R

O
 i

s
 t

o
 m

e
e

t 
w

it
h

 
S

W
 a

n
d

 T
M

/I
S

M
 a

n
d

 a
le

rt
 H

e
a

d
 o

f 
S

e
rv

ic
e

. 
A

c
ti

o
n

s
 a

n
d

 t
im

e
s

c
a

le
s

 a
g

re
e

d
 w

il
l 
b

e
 r

e
p

o
rt

e
d

 t
o

 t
h

e
 I

R
O

, 
IS

M
 a

n
d

 H
e

a
d

 o
f 

S
e

rv
ic

e
. 

 A
 L

A
R

 w
ill

 b
e

 a
rr

a
n

g
e

d
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
re

e
 m

o
n

th
s
 o

f 
th

is
 d

a
te

 t
o
 r

e
v
ie

w
 t

h
e

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 o

f 
th

is
 c

a
re

 p
la

n
 w

it
h

 s
p

e
c
if
ic

 f
o

c
u

s
 o

n
 t
h

e
 i
s
s
u

e
s
 o

f 
c
o

n
c
e

rn
s
 

id
e

n
ti
fi
e

d
. 

T
h

is
 m

e
e

ti
n

g
 w

il
l 

re
v

ie
w

 t
h

e
 e

x
is

ti
n

g
 R

A
G

 r
a

ti
n

g
. 
If

 c
le

a
r 

e
v
id

e
n

c
e

 i
s
 p

ro
v
id

e
d

 t
h

a
t 

th
e

 c
o

n
c
e

rn
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 f

u
lly

 a
d

d
re

s
s
e

d
, 

th
e

 I
R

O
 

m
a

y
 d

e
c
id

e
 t

o
 r

e
v
e

rt
 t

o
 t

h
e

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
 t

im
e

s
c
a

le
 f

o
r 

th
e

 n
e

x
t 

L
A

R
. 

A
m

b
e

r
T

ic
k

D
e

ta
il

s
N

o
 P

e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
e

 O
p

ti
o

n
 a

t 
2

n
d
 R

e
v
ie

w
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
 

 
 

A
 s

in
g

le
-t

ra
c
k
 p

la
n

 f
o

r 
P

e
rm

a
n

e
n

c
y
 w

a
s
 a

g
re

e
d

 a
t 

la
s
t 

L
A

R
 a

n
d

 
H

o
m

e
 F

in
d

in
g

 /
 L

o
n

g
-T

e
rm

 L
in

k
in

g
 h

a
s
 n

o
t 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
e

d
. 

 
 

N
o

 S
o

c
ia

l 
W

o
rk

e
r 

re
p

o
rt

 f
o

r 
th

e
 R

e
v
ie

w
 m

e
e

ti
n

g
 

 
 

K
e

y
 r

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
s
 o

f 
th

e
 c

a
re

 p
la

n
 h

a
v
e

 n
o

t 
b

e
e

n
 p

ro
g

re
s
s
e

d
 

a
n

d
 r

e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ty

 f
o

r 
a

c
ti
o

n
 l
ie

s
 w

it
h

: 

 A
 p

a
rt

n
e

r 
a

g
e

n
c
y
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 L
e

g
a
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 

 
 

C
h

a
n

g
e

 o
f 

S
o

c
ia

l 
W

o
rk

e
r/

C
a

s
e

 t
ra

n
s
fe

r 
is

 /
 h

a
s
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
te

d
  

to
 d

ri
ft

 
in

 t
h

e
 p

ro
g

re
s
s
 o

f 
c
a

re
 p

la
n

. 
 

 
Y

o
u

n
g

 P
e

rs
o

n
 i
s
 n

o
t 

h
a
p

p
y
 i
n

 p
la

c
e
m

e
n

t 
–

 a
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 i
t 

is
 e

v
id

e
n

t 
th

a
t 

h
is

/h
e

r 
n

e
e

d
s
 a

re
 b

e
in

g
 m

e
t.

 
 

 
C

h
ild

/Y
o

u
n

g
 P

e
rs

o
n

/P
a

re
n

t/
C

a
re

r 
w

is
h

e
d

 t
o

 m
a

k
e

 a
 c

o
m

p
la

in
t 

 
 

L
a

c
k
 o

f 
p

ro
g
re

s
s
 w

it
h

 p
a
th

w
a

y
/t

ra
n

s
it
io

n
 p

la
n

n
in

g
, 

(i
n

c
lu

d
in

g
 

U
A

S
C

).
 

 
 

L
a

c
k
 o

f 
le

g
a
l 
s
e

c
u

ri
ty

 (
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 U

A
S

C
) 

 
 

N
o

 H
e

a
lt
h

 p
la

n
 w

it
h

in
 2

8
 d

a
y
s
 o

f 
p

la
c
e

m
e

n
t.

 
 

 

3

Page 81



A
c

ti
o

n
 R

e
q

u
ir

e
d

 –
 I

R
O

 t
o

 s
e

le
c

t 
o

n
e

 o
f 

th
e

 f
o

ll
o

w
in

g
 o

p
ti

o
n

s
: 

 T
h
is

 n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 p

a
s
s
e
d
 t

o
 t

h
e
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
ib

le
 S

o
c
ia

l 
W

o
rk

e
r/

T
e
a
m

 M
a
n
a
g
e
r/

IS
M

 r
e
q
u
ir
in

g
 a

 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 f

ro
m

 S
W

 a
n
d
 T

M
 

w
it
h
in

 2
 w

e
e
k
s
 

 IR
O

 w
ill

 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 a

 w
ri
tt
e
n
 u

p
d
a
te

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 S

W
 o

n
 t

h
e

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 o

f 
th

e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 o

f 
c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
 w

it
h
in

 3
 m

o
n
th

s
 o

f 
th

is
 d

a
te

. 

  I
f 

a
 s

e
c
o

n
d

 A
m

b
e
r 

n
o

ti
fi

c
a
ti

o
n

 i
s
 g

iv
e
n

 a
t 

th
e
 n

e
x
t 

re
v
ie

w
 a

n
d

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 r

e
m

a
in

s
 l

im
it

e
d

, 
th

e
 I
R

O
 w

il
l 
c
o

n
s
id

e
r 

in
it

ia
ti

n
g

 t
h

e
 

IR
O

 M
a

n
a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
A

le
rt

. 

 

G
re

e
n

T
ic

k
D

e
ta

il
s

C
a

s
e

 i
s
 w

e
ll 

m
a

n
a

g
e

d
 a

n
d

 c
a

re
 p

la
n
n

in
g

 i
s
 p

ro
g

re
s
s
in

g
. 

 
 

 

A
t 

s
e

c
o

n
d

 L
A

R
 a

 p
e

rm
a

n
e

n
c
e

 o
p

ti
o
n

 i
s
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e
d

 
 

 

A
ll 

re
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
s
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 l
a

s
t 

L
A

C
 r

e
v
ie

w
 h

a
v
e

 b
e

e
n

 
a

d
d

re
s
s
e

d
 

 
 

T
h

e
 c

a
re

 p
la

n
 i
s
 m

e
e

ti
n

g
 t

h
e

 c
h

ild
/y

o
u

n
g

 p
e

rs
o

n
's

 h
o

lis
ti
c
 n

e
e

d
s
. 

 
 

E
v
id

e
n

c
e

 o
f 

a
c
ti
v
e

 p
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 
c
h

ild
/y

o
u

n
g

 p
e

rs
o

n
 b

e
in

g
 

p
ro

m
o

te
d

 i
n

 t
h

e
 c

a
re

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
 

 
 

E
v
id

e
n

c
e

 o
f 

a
c
ti
v
e

 p
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 
p

a
re

n
t/

fa
m

ily
 b

e
in

g
 p

ro
m

o
te

d
 i
n

 
th

e
 c

a
re

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
 

 
 

R
e

v
ie

w
 o

f 
a

rr
a

n
g

e
m

e
n

ts
 p

a
p

e
r 

w
o

rk
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 c

o
n

s
is

te
n

tl
y
 

p
re

s
e

n
te

d
 t

o
 r

e
v
ie

w
s
 a

n
d

 u
p

d
a

te
d

 o
n

 P
R

O
T

O
C

O
L

 
 

 

R
e
c
o

g
n

it
io

n
 o

f 
E

x
c
e
ll
e
n

t 
P

ra
c
ti

c
e

IR
O

 m
a

y
 s

e
n

d
 '
R

e
c

o
g

n
it

io
n

 o
f 

E
x
c
e
ll

e
n

t 
P

ra
c
ti

c
e
' 

N
o

ti
fi

c
a
ti

o
n

 i
f 

p
ra

c
ti

c
e
 i

s
 o

f 
e
x
c
e
p

ti
o

n
a
ll

y
 h

ig
h

 q
u

a
li

ty
. 

 
 

A
c

ti
o

n
 R

e
q

u
ir

e
d

 

 T
h
is

 n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 p

a
s
s
e
d
 t

o
 t

h
e
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
ib

le
 S

o
c
ia

l 
W

o
rk

e
r/

T
e
a
m

 M
a
n
a
g
e
r/

 I
S

M
 .

 

 I
R

O
 w

ill
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
 a

 L
A

R
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d

 t
im

e
 s

c
a
le

s
 t

o
 d

is
c
u
s
s
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 o

f 
th

e
 c

a
re

 p
la

n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 m

u
lt
i-
a
g
e
n

c
y
 f

o
ru

m
 a

s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

d
. 
 

4

Page 82



5

T
h

is
 m

e
e
ti

n
g

 w
il

l 
re

v
ie

w
 t

h
e
 e

x
is

ti
n

g
 R

A
G

 r
a
ti

n
g

. 

     

Page 83



Looked After Care Plan Protocol

IRO Management Alert 

1.0 Introduction and Legislative Framework 

1.1  Section 26 of the Children Act 1989 and the associated guidance and 
regulations recommended that Looked After Children's reviews should be 
chaired by officers of the local authority who are at a more senior level than 
the case-holding social workers.  The intention was to bring a degree of 
objectivity and oversight to practice and decision-making for children in care, 
and to monitor the activity of the local authority as a corporate parent.

1.2  Section 118 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 amended section 26 of the 
Children Act 1989 to make the Independent Reviewing Officer's role a legal 
requirement in Looked After Children's reviews.  Statutorily, IROs must 
participate in the review of children's cases, monitor the authority's functions in 
respect of the review, and may refer a child's case to the Children and 
Family Court Advisory Service (CAFCASS) if the failure to implement 
aspects of a care plan might be considered in breach of the child's human 
rights.  CAFCASS has the power to undertake legal action. 

1.3  As with all the IRO's responsibilities and powers, the power to refer a case to 
CAFCASS applies to all Looked After Children, including those Looked After 
under a voluntary agreement (section 20 of the Children Act 1989) and those 
Looked After under a Care Order (section 31 of the Children Act 1989). Such 
legal proceedings might be further family proceedings (for example, for the 
discharge of a care order or for contact), a freestanding application under the 
Human Rights Act 1998, or an application for judicial review.

1.4  One of the IRO's key roles within this framework is in dispute resolution 
in cases where they have identified that the care plan for a child is not 
being progressed in a timely way to meet the child's needs or where 
there is poor practice impacting on the child's needs being met.  In these 
situations, the IRO has the duty to negotiate with the local authority 
management up to the highest level, and ultimately to refer the case to 
CAFCASS if they believe this process has not resulted in the desired 
outcome.  This protocol addresses this escalation process.

1.5  Wherever possible, the IRO will attempt to resolve a problem concerning the 
child's care plan by negotiation, including contacting the team responsible for 
the child and attempting to resolve the problem directly with the team.  If this 
proves unsuccessful, the IRO will take the case to senior management, then 
the Assistant Director, the Director, the Chief Executive. Where necessary the 
IRO may refer to CAFCASS.  The IRO will also work with the local authority 
complaints officers and advocates where necessary for the resolution of a 
problem.

6Page 84



2.0 The Purpose of the IRO Management Alert and sets out a clear pathway 
for communication between the IRO and the child's allocated social worker and 
their management, to ensure that satisfactory resolution of concerns is 
achieved without delay 

2.1  This protocol aims to promote good practice, attempting to minimise any time 
delay for the child/young person but hopefully ensuring a fair time frame for 
the LA to review and consider its decisions. The process for seeking problem 
resolution is set in stages. The time frames stated should be seen as setting 
minimum standards and every opportunity for taking less than the proposed 
times should be encouraged.   

2.1.1 The maximum time taken for problem resolution within the authority should be 
no more than 3 months.  The proposed timescales are maximum timescales 
and the IRO may set earlier timescales for each component of the process if 
they feel that this is necessary to achieve resolution in a timescale that meets 
the child's needs.  

The Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) will make a decision about the 
timescale in which the problem should be resolved and make this clear to the 
operational managers at each stage of the resolution process. 

The IRO and/or the Team Manager may wish to discuss the issues informally with 
their local CAFCASS Manager and the IRO may wish to seek independent legal 
advice at any stage of the process.  The Local Authority will be expected to acquire 
funding for this. 

2.1.2 This protocol will provide a clear and agreed quality assurance framework for;  

 To provide information about the status and quality of care planning for all 
LAC and to act as a management monitoring tool for QA purpose 

 The recognition and acknowledgement of good practice  
 A clear process for the escalation and resolution of concerns about poor 

practice 
 To provide Managers with information where there are concerns about the  

quality of practice or other issues of poor practice impacting on the child's 
needs being met, serious drift or delays in implementing plans for children 
subject to looked after processes  

 To make the process more robust and objective 

2.2  Recognition of Good Practice Notification 

A recognition of good practice will be issued via the quality assurance RAG 
notification when there is evidence of excellence in the practice / 
management of plans for children looked after.  Such practice may be 
characterised by: 
 

 Clear, Timely, and Comprehensive Case/Care Plans being progressed 
effectively 

 

7Page 85



 Effective relationships with children and young people  
 

 Effective relationships with parents and carers  
 

 Significant Foresight/Effort in progressing complex issues and Care Plans 
 

 Responsibility and Ownership in practice 
 

 Quality/Comprehensive information systems
 
2.3 Where there is evidence of excellent practice/management of Care/Plans the 

IRO will send a 'Recognition of Good Practice' notification to the Social 
Worker, copied to the ISM and to the complaints officer. 

 
3.0 Coventry IRO Management Alert Process   

3.1 This is separate from the RAG rating of care plans.  The IRO Care planning 
Escalation process in Coventry is knows as the "IRO management alert 
process".  An IRO management alert will be issued when there is evidence 
that there is drift or delay in implementation of care or pathway plans; i.e. they 
are not being progressed within appropriate timescales, or when there is 
evidence of poor quality service to service users, particularly when this 
impacts on the needs of the LAC being met appropriately.  

 
3.2   Situations where an IRO might have concerns and initiate the management 

alert process would include: 
 

 Issues around the appropriateness of the LA's proposed care plan
 

 Serious delays in care planning e.g. permanency or pathway plans not 
progressing

 Care Proceedings or Permanency Plans not initiated in a timely manner

 Looked After Review recommendations not followed through

 Lack of adequate preparation for the Looked After Review

 Lack of completion of decisions within timescales

 Failure to initiate services and assessments as require in the care plan

 Statutory visits not undertaken within required timescales

 Appropriate Contact Plans not being formulated/enacted

 Failure to follow anti-oppressive principles

 Lack of or poor supervision of a Social Worker

8Page 86



 Concerns about allocation history

 Delays in family finding/placement search

 Inadequate health provision

 Inadequate education provision

 Evidence of poor placement choice/standard of care

 Little or no evidence of management discussion or direction in agreeing / 
steering Care plans

 Lack of, or inappropriate engagement/communication with child / young 
person

 Lack of, or inappropriate engagement/communication with parents /carer / 
partner agencies

 Regular failure to meet recommended Plan timescales/tasks

 Clear lack of basic case or procedural knowledge/competence

 Absence or ongoing inadequacy of information systems.

3.3 When an IRO identifies that there are concerns about planning or practice 
which warrant an IRO Management Alert, the following process will be 
triggered. 

 
There are six stages to the escalation process within the Local Authority. The 
IRO has the discretion to proceed directly to stage 3 in more serious or urgent 
cases. The stages are: 
 

Stage Responsible Officer 

Stage 1: Team Manager 

Stage 2: ISM 

Stage 3: Head of Service 

Stage 4: Assistant Director, Children's Social Care 

Stage 5: Director of Children and Young People Service 

Stage 6: Chief Executive of the Council  

9Page 87



At any stage in this process the IRO may refer the concerns to CAFCASS if the 
issues indicate a serious breach of the child's HR. The IRO will always consult with 
the Head of Safeguarding and the relevant Head of Service before making a referral 
to CAFCASS. 

3.3.1  Stage 1  

At the end of every statutory review, the IRO will identify a set of decisions 
which were formulated within the review meeting, determine the timescales for 
each decision to be completed and identify those decisions that are of 
sufficient concern to warrant notification by the social worker to the IRO of 
completion.   

These are known as 'starred' recommendations.  IRO to notify the Team
Manager of every starred recommendation made. Starred recommendations 
should not be used lightly and this 'star status' should be crucial to the care 
plan and/or crucial to the child/young person's needs.  

Star status can be considered in 3 categories: 

1. Implementation of Significant action within the Care Plan 
2. Accessing resources 
3. Inadequate / poor practice 

IRO produces 'starred' decisions with clear timescales for completion  

IRO electronically forwards the decisions to the Allocated Worker, the Team

Manager and the Integrated Service Manager within 72 hours (three days)  

 

The IRO must submit the relevant form (please see appendix) to initiate 
stages 1 - 3 of the Care Planning Escalation Process.  At each of these 
stages, a response is required within 5 working days of receipt.  

3.3.2 Stages 4 - 6 will be managed through a meeting, which should be chaired by 
the Manager who has received the alert.  The meeting should be 
independently minuted.  All key personnel should be invited to the meeting.  
The IRO does not attend the meeting but is required to provide a statement of 
what would be required to prevent the matter progressing to the next dispute 
resolution stage.  

3.3.3  Should the IRO exhaust all stages of the dispute process (or deem that the 
time it is taking to exhaust the stages is unreasonable) and (s)he believes 
there is still a danger that the child's human rights may be being breached due 
to action or inaction of the local authority, (s)he may make a section 118 

10Page 88



referral to CAFCASS.  CAFCASS is able to bring legal proceedings to achieve 
a remedy.  

3.3.4  Legal proceedings should only be considered as a last resort - i.e., in extreme 
cases where all other attempts to resolve the problem have failed.  The 
additional delay associated with legal proceedings is not in the interest of the 
child, and every effort should be made to resolve the problem before such 
action is taken. 

3.4  Referral to CAFCASS 

3.4.1 These guidelines are not designed to hinder or minimise concerns.  However, 
given the impact on the Department should the management alert process 
reach the referral to CAFCASS stage, it is crucial that there is clear and 
transparent evidence of the IRO management and supervision process for 
senior managers, the Chief Executive, and/or members. 

This procedure should be followed in a way that is proportionate to the level of 
concerns raised. 

 
In exceptional circumstances, where the concern is about an extremely 
serious level of delay in planning or drift the Safeguarding Service may take 
the decision to escalate the concern to the Head of Service, or above  and/or 
CAFCASS at an earlier point in the process, to seek resolution of the issues in 
as effective and timely a way as possible.   

 
If this decision is taken the Integrated Service Manager and Head of Service 
should be informed in writing of the intention to do this. 

3.4.2  Except in the exceptional circumstances outlined above, the IRO should only 
make the referral to CAFCASS if: 

1. The IRO has made every attempt to resolve the problem with the local 
authority, up to the level of the Chief Executive, and there is still a risk of 
the child's human rights being breached.   

2. There is no other suitable adult able and willing to take the case on the 
child's behalf (when the child is under age 18) or the child is not of 
sufficient age and understanding and wanting to bring proceedings on their 
own behalf.   

3.4.3   Where the child brings proceedings on his or her own behalf, the role of the 
IRO is only to assist the child in obtaining their own legal advice from a 
suitably qualified and experienced lawyer.  Where a suitable adult brings 
proceedings on behalf of the child, the role of the IRO is only to establish that 
this is done.  

3.4.4  Where the child is not in a position to initiate proceedings on their own behalf, 
no adult is able or willing to do so on their behalf, and where there is a risk of 

11Page 89



the child's human rights being breached, the IRO should refer the matter to 
CAFCASS Legal at the following address: 

CAFCASS Legal 
8th floor, Wyndham House 
South Quay Plaza 
189 Marsh Wall 
London 
E14 9SH 

Telephone: 020 7510-7000 
Email: legal@cafcass.gov.uk
CAFCASS website 

There is a duty lawyer each working day. 

3.5 Recording and Communicating that a Child's Care Plan has been Subject 
to Alerts 

3.5.1 The IRO should verbally inform the members of a child's Looked After 
Review meeting of any management alerts they have initiated since the 
previous meeting or which they intend to initiate subsequent to the current 
meeting.  The IRO should record details of any prior management alerts in the 
Background and Update section of the discussion summary in the Chair's 
Report.  The IRO should record details of any intended future alerts in the 
Legal section of the discussion summary of the Chair's Report.  

3.5.2 The IRO should place all Management Alert forms on the relevant LAC file.  
The IRO should also ensure that it is recorded in the case notes section of 
Protocol that (s)he has initiated a management alert and how and when it is 
resolved, and that the Management Alert form is recorded on Protocol. 

3.5.3 The Review and Quality Assurance Manager of the Service will  report on the 
number of management alerts that have been initiated and the timescales for 
resolving them.  This information will be included in the annual IRO 
Management Report.  

3.6  Informing the IRO of any Significant Change in the Child's 
Circumstances 

3.6.1  Under the Adoption and Children Act 2002 IRO Guidance (Regulation 8), the 
Local Authority must inform the IRO of, "Any significant change of 
circumstances occurring after the review that affects arrangements".  

This is not an exhaustive list but the following changes should be 
communicated by the case holder to IROs in Coventry  

1. Significant delays in completing any child care review decisions  

12Page 90



2. Any period of more than three days missing from care (minutes of any 
missing from care meetings should also be forwarded to the IRO)  

3. Unplanned or unexpected changes in the child's placement provision 
(which may significantly impact on placement stability)  

4. Court Orders and outcomes from Directions hearings  

5. Outcomes from LAC or medical consultations that identify/confirm any 
serious previously undiagnosed conditions  

6. Planned and unplanned discharges from care  

7. Outcomes of Joint Agency Panels   

8. Outcomes of presentations to the Fostering Panel  

9. Outcomes of presentations to the Adoption and Permanency Panel  

10. Change of placements, including the relevant Ofsted report if it is a 
residential provision  

11. Updates of Adoptions Action Plans  

12. Any period of exclusion from school for more than five days  

13. Unexpected changes in the child's family circumstances (births, deaths, 
etc.)  

14. Arrests, bail, and convictions  

15. Serious accidents  

16. Changes of allocated social workers  

17. Unplanned proposed or actual discharge from care  

18. Complaints from or on behalf of the child, parent, or carer  

3.6.2 As a result of receiving any of the above information, the IRO may decide to 
convene a review at an earlier date than was scheduled. The 2010 Care 
Planning regulations intend to strengthen the IRO role by specifying that a 
review must be held before any change in the Care Plan can be carried out.  

 

3.6.3 Following on from this requirement, Coventry has identified four circumstances 
under which a change in the Care Plan cannot take place before a review 
meeting is held and the change has been endorsed by the IRO:  

1. Wherever there is a proposal (which has not already been endorsed by the 
IRO) for the child to move from a regulated placement (e.g. foster care or 
children's home) to an unregulated placement (e.g. a semi-independent 
unit or "independent living" facility) before the age of 18.  

13Page 91



14

2. Wherever any unplanned change is proposed to a child's accommodation 
that could significantly disrupt his or her education (e.g. having to move 
school during the academic year or during a programme leading to 
recognised qualifications such as during the run up to GCSEs in years 10 
and 11).   

3. Wherever there is a proposal to move a child from a placement in 
residential care where reports have previously indicated that the placement 
is appropriate and the child is settled and going to school.  

4. Prior to a child being discharged from a secure children's home or leaving 
custody.  

3.7  The Role of the Review & Quality Assurance Manager and Head of 
Safeguarding during the Management Alert Process 

The Review & Quality Assurance Manager is responsible for management and 
supervision of the IROs.   

3.7.1  The role of these managers during the management alert process shall be: 

 To provide clear supervision to the IRO, taking into consideration the issue 
being raised and providing feedback on the strengths and weaknesses of 
the case being brought forward.  

 To ensure that throughout the process, lines of communication remain 
open and clear and that the issue does not become clouded, personalised, 
or lost in other processes.  

 To ensure that meetings take place on time and that they are present at all 
relevant meetings above the ISM level.  

 To provide briefing to senior managers as to the view of the SCS on the 
issue being raised and possible routes to resolving the issue.  

 To ensure that legal advice has been sought by the IRO from the Legal 
department at the appropriate time; to discuss this advice in supervision 
and consider its possible implications for the issue being raised.  

 Overall, to encourage resolution prior to the issue reaching the ISM stage.   

 

 

Page 92



Be a consistent person in the life of children 

and young people and make sure their diverse 

needs are met; and make sure they know 

who their IRO is and how to contact them

1
Proactively challenge and make sure that 

what is agreed is done, and will take up 

issues on behalf of children and young people  

and make sure we feed back to them

7

Enhance our relationship with our young 

people, get to know them better and see them 

more often, being creative in the approaches 

we use to communicate with them

3

Make sure that children and young people 

and appropriate others are informed about 

what IROs are for and what we will do
2

Ensure children and young people’s views are 

reflected in the review process and that we are 

not distracted from their wishes and feelings
8

Make the review process a positive 

experience by considering children 

and young people’s wishes
9

Make sure that children and young people  

know their rights including how to comment, 

compliment, or complain if they are not happy
11

Prioritise contact issues, including 

with friends and will make sure that 

contact is fun as well as safe
12

Respond to individual needs, including 

the least possible intrusion into 

young people’s personal lives
4

Empower children and young people  to 

participate more as they develop and learn, 

specifically with regard to chairing reviews
6

Ensure children and young people understand 

their care plan, and use jargon free language5

Recognise the review is not just an 

event but part of an ongoing process10

Compliment our children and young people at 

every opportunity and celebrate their successes13

Pledge to Looked 

After Children and 

Young People

from Independent 

Reviewing Officer (IRO) 

Services in the  

West Midlands

Strive to achieve appropriate resources, workload, caseload, admin support and necessary 

tools in place to help IROs meet quality assurance requirements.14

Seek to empower the IROs in our services so that they can confidently complete their duties15

As IRO Managers, we will:

As IROs, we will:

Page 93



Page 94



 Coventry Safeguarding Children Board
  Post-Conference Questionaire for Parent/Guardian

  Summary of questionaire responses (96 in total)

1. What is you relationship to the Child?

2. Did any other professional talk to you about the information they would be 

sharing in the meeting?

Father

28%

Grandmother

4%

Mother

57%

No Response

1%

Both Parents

8%

Mother & 

Stepfather/

Partner

2%

No

22%

No Response

2%

Yes

76%

SafeguardingQuestionnaireAug2012.xls CYLP Data Team Date Created: 10/08/2012
Page 95



3. Did it help to talk to the Chair before the meeting?

4. Did it help to be in the meeting room before everyone else?

5. Were you told who everyone was at the meeting?

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

N
o

. 
o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

s
e
s

Responses 1 2 38 53 1 1

Not at all 

Helpful

Not very 

Helpful

Quite

Helpful

Very

Helpful
N/A

No

Response

0

10

20

30

40

50

N
o

. 
o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

s
e
s

Responses 4 7 39 41 1 4

Not at all 

Helpful

Not very 

Helpful

Quite

Helpful

Very

Helpful
N/A

No

Response

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

N
o

. 
o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

s
e
s

Responses 1 8 85 2

No, No One
Yes, Some of 

them
Yes, Everyone No Response

SafeguardingQuestionnaireAug2012.xls CYLP Data Team Date Created: 10/08/2012
Page 96



6. Did you understand why they were all there?

7. During the meeting, did you say all that you wanted to say?

8. Did you understand the different parts of the meeting?

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

N
o

. 
o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

s
e
s

Responses 1 0 19 75 1

Not at all Not very well Quite well Completely No Response

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

N
o

. 
o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

s
e
s

Responses 1 7 33 54 1

Not at all Not very well Quite well Completely No Response

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

N
o

. 
o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

s
e
s

Responses 0 2 32 59 3

Not at all Not very well Quite well Completely No Response

SafeguardingQuestionnaireAug2012.xls CYLP Data Team Date Created: 10/08/2012
Page 97



9.

10.

11. Were you given the opportunity to have your say about the plan?

Do you understand what needs to change to make things better for your 

child in the future?

Do you think that the plan that was discussed in the meeting will help you to 

make these changes?

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

N
o

. 
o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

s
e
s

Responses 1 1 17 76 1

Not at all Not very well Quite well Completely No Response

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

N
o

. 
o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

s
e
s

Responses 0 4 23 68 1

Not at all Not very well Quite well Completely No Response

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

N
o

. 
o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

s
e
s

Responses 1 3 25 65 2

Not at all Not very well Quite well Completely No Response

SafeguardingQuestionnaireAug2012.xls CYLP Data Team Date Created: 10/08/2012
Page 98



Public report
Cabinet Member Report

4 September 2012 

Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member (Children and Young People) - Councillor O'Boyle  

Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Children Learning and Young People 

Ward(s) affected: 
All

Title:
Comments, Compliments and Complaints 2011/12 – Children's Social Care Services 

Is this a key decision? 
No

Executive Summary: 

The report provides details of the comments, compliments and complaints received during 
2011/12, the themes that arise from them and the learning and service improvements that have 
resulted from the feedback received.  

Recommendations:

The Cabinet Member is asked to endorse and approve the publishing of this report.

List of Appendices included: 

Appendix 1 - Children's Social Care Services Comments, Compliments and Complaints Annual 
Report 2011/12.

Other useful background papers: 

None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  

No

Agenda Item 6

Page 99



Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?  

No

Will this report go to Council?  

No

 2 
Page 100



Report title: 

Comments, Compliments and Complaints 2011/12 – Children's Social Care Services

1. Context (or background) 

1.1 Local Authorities have a statutory duty, arising from the Children Act 1989, to have a 
system for receiving representations by, or on behalf of, children who use the social care 
services they provide or commission and to produce an Annual Report about the operation 
of the complaints procedure. The procedure used for receiving representations under the 
statutory procedure is linked to the corporate complaints process. The report covers 
representations dealt with under both procedures. 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal 

2.1 The Cabinet Member is asked to endorse and approve the publishing of this report.

3. Results of consultation undertaken 

3.1 No consultation was undertaken specifically about this report.

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 

4.1 If approved, the report will be published on the City Council's internet site on 1 October 
2012.

5. Comments from Director of Finance and Legal Services 

5.1 Financial implications 

   There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

5.2 Legal implications 

There are three different complaints procedures relating to local authority decisions: 

• Complaint to the local authority under Children Act 1989, s26 (3) (support for 
families and children) 

• Complaint in relation to children's homes or voluntary organisations within their 
procedure, or 

• Complaint to the local authority under LASSA 1970 (matters not falling under 
Children Act s26). 

         In practice the procedures are likely to be administratively similar and merge. 

The procedure for the local authority to deal with representations and complaints is    
contained within the Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 
2006.

The local authority must monitor arrangements made in accordance with the regulations      
by keeping a record of each representation received, and compiling a report every 12 
months on the operation of its procedure. 

 3 
Page 101



6. Other implications 

         None 

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's key objectives / corporate 
priorities (corporate plan/scorecard) / organisational blueprint / Local Area 
Agreement (or Coventry Sustainable Community Strategy)?

Ensuring that children and young people are safe, achieve and make a positive contribution  

Children, young people and others acting on their behalf, are encouraged to report any 
concerns about the care and services they are receiving so that these can be addressed 
quickly.

The feedback that is received from complaints and other representations is reported to 
managers on a regular basis to inform service planning and improvements. 

6.2 How is risk being managed? 

No risk has been identified. 

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 

None.

6.4 Equalities / EIA  

Local Authorities are required to monitor equalities information with regard to 
representations received. This is intended to provide an accurate picture of the use of the 
procedure by minority groups and to ensure that it is accessible to them and does not 
inadvertently discriminate against them. 

The complaints service in the Children, Learning and Young People's Directorate was the 
subject of an Equalities Impact Assessment during 2010/11. This concluded that the 
service was having a positive equalities impact.  

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment 

None.

6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 

None.

Report author(s): 

Name and job title: 
Andrew Bell, Children's Complaints Officer. 

Directorate: 
Children, Learning and Young People.

Tel and email contact: 
024 7683 3462 
andrew.bell@coventry.gov.uk 

 4 
Page 102



Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 

Contributor/approver
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:   

Isabel Merrifield Assistant 
Director, 
Strategy,
Commissioning 
& Policy 

Children,
Learning and 
Young People 

09/08/2012 10/08/2012 

David Wilson Principal Analyst Children, 
Learning and 
Young People 

09/08/2012 09/08/2012 

Julie York Senior Analyst Children, 
Learning and 
Young People 

21/06/2012 02/08/2012 

Other members

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers and 
members)

  

Finance: Paul Whitmore Finance 
Manager 

Finance and 
Legal

14/08/2012 14/08/2012 

Legal: Ramona Barreto Principal 
Solicitor, Social 
Care Services 

Finance and 
Legal

14/08/2012 21/08/2012 

Communications: Claire 
McCarthy

Communications 
Officer 

Chief Executive's 10/08/2012 13/08/2012 

Human Resources: Neelesh 
Sutaria

H.R. Manager Customer and 
Workforce 
Services 

13/08/2012 13/08/2012 

Director: Colin Green Director Children, 
Learning and 
Young People 

09/08/2012 10/08/2012 

Members: Councillor O'Boyle Cabinet Member 
(Children and 
Young People) 

13/08/2012 13/08/2012 

This report is published on the council's website: 
www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings

 5 
Page 103



 6 

Appendices

Page 104



www.coventry.gov.uk 

Annual Report
2011/12

Social Services Children, Learning and Young People's Directorate 

Children's Social Care Services 
Comments, Compliments

& Complaints

Page 105



2

CONTENTS

SECTION 1   INTRODUCTION  

SECTION 2  SUMMARY 

SECTION 3   RESPONDING TO FEEDBACK 

SECTION 4 MESSAGES, LEARNING POINTS & SERVICE IMPROVEMENTS 

SECTION 5  STATISTICAL DATA 

Page 106



3

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION 

Local Authorities are required by law (Children Act 1989) to have a system for receiving 
representations made by or on behalf of children who use the social care services they provide or 
commission. These include: social work services, residential care, fostering, adoption and the 
provision of support to families, children with disabilities and young people in trouble with the law.  
Representations are defined as comments, compliments and complaints. 

On 1 September 2006, changes were made to the Local Authority Social Services Complaints 
Regulations (1990) as a result of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 and the Health and Social 
Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003. These changes aimed to improve the speed of 
response to representations, to enhance the level of independence in judgements made at Stages 
2 and 3 of the procedure and to improve access to and learning from the representations process. 
The changes also required Local Authorities to appoint a Complaints Manager to oversee all 
aspects of the procedure. Other significant changes included extending the scope of the procedure 
to include services provided under other parts of the Children Act, certain Adoption Services and 
Special Guardianship Support Services. A time limit of one year for making representations was 
also introduced as were new timescales for responding to complaints at Stages 1 and 2.   

Some complaints received do not meet the criteria to be dealt with under the statutory procedure. 
When this is the case, these are registered under the City Council's corporate complaints 
procedure. The arrangements for handling these complaints are different from the statutory 
process in terms of timescales and the independence of the people who investigate and review the 
complaints.

In Coventry, the Children, Learning and Young People's Directorate has a dedicated Children’s 
Complaints Officer assigned to the management of representations from children and others who 
present feedback on Children’s Social Care Services.   

The purpose of the comments, compliments and complaints system is to ensure that: 

 The views and experiences of people who use services are heard. 

 Positive feedback is used to develop services and acknowledge good practice. 

 Things that have gone wrong are put right. 

 The organisation learns from both positive and negative feedback. 

 The organisation sustains its customer focus. 

As part of the Directorate's commitment to openness, quality assurance, service development and 
listening and learning from service users, this report provides summary information from 
comments, compliments and complaints received under the statutory and corporate procedures in 
relation to Children's Social Care Services, during the period 1st April 2011 to 31st March 2012.  

Particular reference is made to: 

The range of representations received and responses to them. 

Specific trends and issues that emerged in the reporting period.

Page 107



4

SECTION 2: SUMMARY

During the period 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012, Children's Social Care Services dealt with 3,793 
referrals and at 31 March 2012 were providing services to 2,652 children and young people.   

The total number of complaints received about Children's Social Care Services in 2011/12 was 
116. This represents 3% of the numbers of referrals received and 4% of the number of children 
receiving a service. There was one comment made and 122 compliments were also received. This 
latter figure represents 3% of the numbers of referrals received and 5% of the number of children 
receiving a service.  

There was an overall reduction of 54 in the combined numbers of comments, compliments and 
complaints compared to the previous year. The number of compliments reduced by 23, while the 
number of complaints reduced by 32. 2011/12 is the first year in which the number of compliments 
received has exceeded the number of complaints. 

The majority of the representations received (75%), were about social work services. 
Approximately half of the complaints were in relation to children and young people who were being 
looked after by the Local Authority. 

The complaints received tended to refer to matters affecting the individual, rather than a number of 
complaints being received about the same issue or a specific service. 

Nevertheless, five main themes could be identified as arising from the feedback by and on behalf 
of users in 2011/12. 

Criticism of professional conduct and how users were treated by some staff. 

Concerns about standards of service provided. 

Unhappiness with decisions and how they were made. 

Issues regarding poor communication with users. 

Appreciation of the way that individual members of staff had carried out their duties and the 
positive difference their actions had made.  

Page 108



5

SECTION 3: RESPONDING TO FEEDBACK 

Comments, compliments and complaints can tell us a great deal about the service users' 
experiences of service delivery, professional practice and the outcome of management decisions. 
The Children, Learning and Young People's Directorate welcomes this feedback and encourages 
children, their advocates and anyone who uses the service or who is affected by it, to make their 
views known. 

3.1       Promoting Feedback 

Accessibility to the system is of vital importance if the Directorate is to maximise the opportunities 
for individuals to make their views known. Promoting contact details and the methods by which 
people can give feedback has been a priority for the Children's Complaints Officer. Contact can be 
made by letter, telephone, fax, e-mail, in person, via freepost forms contained in leaflets 
specifically produced for children and in the corporate "Getting in Touch" leaflet, by the Council’s 
free phone number or the web-site link.  

Of particular importance is the need to inform children of their opportunity to make representations 
and to find methods that they can easily use. Accessibility for children is undergoing continuous 
development. The Children's Complaints Officer has publicised the service widely and specific 
information leaflets have been produced for use by children under 10 years and by teenagers. 
Letters have been sent to all looked after children aged over 10 years explaining the role of the 
Children's Complaints Officer and making them aware of the advocacy service provided by the 
Barnardo's Children's Rights Project. Advocates from Barnardo's have also continued to make 
regular visits to the children's residential units in Coventry. For the last seven years a "texting" 
facility has also been available so that children and young people can make their views known.   

As a result 31 representations were received from children themselves this year (30 complaints 
and 1 compliment). This is consistent with the number received last year (32), although the 
breakdown is significantly different (22 complaints and 10 compliments in 2010/11). Children 
tended to present their feedback by letter or in person. Family members and other adults generally 
made contact by telephone or by email. Details of methods of contact used can be found in Section 
5: Statistical Data.

3.2       Advocacy 

Since 1 April 2004, the Advocacy Services and Representations Regulations 2004, have required 
Local Authorities to make arrangements for the provision of advocacy to children and young people 
making representations under the Children Act 1989. Of the 30 children and young people making 
complaints during the year 9 decided to have an advocate to support them in making their 
complaint.

Prior to the implementation of the Regulations, the Directorate already had a well-established 
arrangement for the provision of advocacy services to children and young people through the NCH 
Children's Rights Project.  Since April 2006, this service has been commissioned from Barnardo's 
and 8 of the complainants who used an advocate had the service provided from this source.  

Page 109



6

3.3     Representations Received 2011/12 

Comments Compliments Complaints

1 122 116

3.4      Comments

Relatively few comments are received in comparison to the number of complaints and compliments 
in any year. They usually take the form of suggestions or criticisms and as such they can 
encourage action to improve quality of services.   

3.5      Compliments

Compliments provide a perspective on satisfaction and they tell us what people appreciate about 
services and the way they are provided. Positive feedback also encourages and motivates staff 
and enables them to celebrate their good performance. Every compliment received is shared with 
the individual or team to whom it refers and copied to the relevant managers. 

3.6      Complaints

Listening to service users' complaints helps managers to focus on service improvement and 
customer care, increasing the Directorate's capacity for identifying changes that are required. Both 
the statutory and the corporate procedures offer a three-stage process which aims to provide a 
satisfactory resolution to any complaint brought to the Directorate, preferably as quickly as 
possible. The lessons learned from complaints form the basis for improving services.  More detail 
regarding the sort of action taken this year is given in Section 4: Messages, Learning Points And 
Service Improvements.  

3.6.1    Stage 1 - Local Resolution 

The Directorate's aim within both the statutory and corporate procedures is to resolve problems, 
whenever possible, informally at Stage 1. At this stage, the complaint will usually be dealt with by 
the local manager who is responsible for the service provided. This is because local managers are 
in the best position to sort problems out quickly. 

When things have gone wrong, an apology, an explanation and an indication of the action to be 
taken to put things right, has been provided in most cases. The majority, 102, (88%) of complaints 
were resolved at this stage including all of the complaints brought by children and young people 
themselves.

Where complaints are unsubstantiated, managers will usually respond with an explanation of the 
Directorate's policy or procedures and this alone can provide a satisfactory resolution in many 
cases. When complainants remain unhappy, they can take their complaint to the next stage of the 
Complaint Procedure. 

3.6.2 Stage 2 - Formal Investigation/Senior Management Review  

Within the statutory procedure, a formal investigation of the circumstances leading to a complaint 
is, sometimes, a more appropriate response, although this tends to be a lengthier process. This 
may be required when complainants remain dissatisfied with the conclusion reached at Stage 1 or 

Page 110



7

when the complaint is particularly complex or involves a number of service areas. These 
investigations are always conducted by someone outside the direct line management of the service 
and the person about whom the complaint is being made. During the year there were seven 
investigations carried out at Stage 2, six of these had progressed from Stage 1. All the 
investigations were undertaken by external investigators. To date, two have been successfully 
resolved and three complainants have requested progression to Stage 3. At the conclusion of all 
Stage 2 investigations and after the response has been made to the complainant, the Investigating 
Officers' reports are read by the Director of Children, Learning and Young People as well as being 
passed to other senior managers for them to consider and act upon.  

Under the corporate procedure, complaints can be progressed to Stage 2 if the complainant 
remains dissatisfied after receiving a response at Stage 1. In these cases, the relevant head of 
service or their nominee will review the outcome at Stage 1 and provide a formal response to the 
complaint. This year no complaints progressed to the second stage of the process. 

3.6.3   Stage 3 - Review Panel/Corporate Review 

Within the statutory complaints procedure, where complainants are dissatisfied with the outcome 
of a formal investigation at Stage 2, they can request that a review panel of three independent 
people be convened to examine the investigation. Review panels can make recommendations to 
the Director if they conclude that the complaint is justified, or that more could be done to resolve 
the matter, or if they feel the Directorate should take action to prevent similar situations arising in 
the future. One complaint was considered by a Review Panel this year. 

Under the corporate procedure, complainants can request that their complaint is progressed to 
Stage 3 if they are unhappy with the response they receive at Stage 2. In these cases, a review of 
the complaint will be undertaken either by the Director of Children, Learning and Young People or 
the Chief Executive of the City Council. This year no complaints were dealt with in this way. 

3.7   Outcomes

All of the complaints received this year had been responded to by the time this report     was 
prepared. In 17 cases (15%), the complaint was fully substantiated, in 43 (37%) the complaint was 
partially substantiated and in 47 (41%) the complaint was not upheld. 8 of the complaints (7%), 
were withdrawn by the complainants after being received. 

As a comparison, in 2010/11, 20% of complaints were fully substantiated, 32% were partially 
substantiated and 37% were not upheld. 

Page 111



8

3.8   Time-scales 

The legislation and corporate procedures set out timescales for dealing with complaints at each 
stage of the process. From 1 September 2006 these became: 

Legislation Corporate

Stage 1 10 working days (can be extended to 20 working days) 10 working days

Stage 2 25 working days (can be extended to 65 working days) 20 working days

Stage 3 Within 30 working days of complainant's request 20 working days

However, the complexity of social care issues means that complaint resolution can sometimes be 
protracted and achievement of the time-scales can suffer as a result.  
The Children's Complaints Officer, therefore, undertakes rigorous monitoring of progress in relation 
to responding to complaints.  

This year performance in relation to completion within timescales was encouraging. 82 (77%) of 
the Stage 1 complaints were responded to on time, as compared to 48% last year. Investigations 
of Stage 2 complaints under the statutory procedure often need to be extended beyond the 25 
working days timescale due to the complexity of the issues being considered. In these situations 
the importance of keeping the complainant informed and securing their agreement to an extension 
of the time-scale, is recognised and addressed. As a result, all but one of the complaints dealt with 
at Stage 2 were all completed within a timescale agreed with the complainant and within 65 
working days.  In the case where the timescale was not achieved, the complaint was particularly 
complex and 49 separate issues were raised by the complainants. As a result, they were advised 
at the start of the investigation that additional time would be required, which they understood and 
agreed. The Independent Review Panel that considered the Stage 3 complaint was convened in 
accordance with the timescales and the Directorate's response to its recommendations was also 
completed within time.

For details of the time-scale performance at each stage see Section 5: Statistical Data. 

3.9   Equalities Monitoring 

Since 1 September 2006, Local Authorities have been required to monitor equalities information 
with regard to representations received. This is intended to provide an accurate picture of the use 
of the procedure by minority groups and to ensure that it is accessible to them and does not 
inadvertently discriminate against them. 

In Coventry, the majority of complaints are not made by service users themselves, but by others on 
their behalf. As a result, in respect of all representations received, a record is kept of the ethnicity 
of the service user and whether or not they have a disability, rather than recording these details in 
relation to the complainant. 

The information gathered this year shows that, despite the overall reduction in the number of 
complaints, the proportion in relation to Black service users remained stable (8%).  (Black service 
users account for 6% of the total users of Social Care services). However, whilst 8% of the number 
of total users of Social Care services were from an Asian background, only 5% of the complaints 

Page 112



9

received were in relation to users from this group.  This is an increase from last year (3%) but 
remains an area where further developments are required to ensure better take up in the future. 
Use of the complaints procedure in relation to service users with a disability, however, is more 
common than might be anticipated.  

More detail regarding equalities monitoring can be found in Section 5: Statistical Data. 

3.10   Satisfaction with Complaints Handling 

Satisfaction with how complaints are managed is measured by sending evaluation questionnaires 
to complainants about their experience of the process. This year, 22 questionnaires were sent to 
complainants but only 6 were returned.  From these, we learned that 4 of the respondents felt they 
had been listened to and 2 were satisfied with the response they received.  As the number of 
returns represented approximately 5% of the number of complaints received, this is perhaps an 
unreliable perception of the quality of the service. Nevertheless, the way in which complaints are 
dealt with will be reviewed and further consideration given to how to measure satisfaction levels to 
better evaluate performance in complaints handling.  

3.11    The Local Government Ombudsman 

If the complainant remains unhappy following the outcome of the City Council's process, they have 
the option of taking their complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman.             

During 2011/12 the Local Government Ombudsman decided four complaints regarding    
Children's Social Care Services in Coventry. In one the Ombudsman determined that he had no 
power to investigate as the matter was the subject of legal proceedings. In two cases the 
Ombudsman decided not to pursue an investigation and in the other, the investigation was 
discontinued on the basis that any injustice caused did not justify the public expense of pursuing 
the matter further. 

Page 113



10

SECTION 4: MESSAGES, LEARNING POINTS & SERVICE IMPROVEMENTS 

Before they can put things right, investigating officers and managers have to determine if, where 
and how things have gone wrong e.g. whether there have been problems in communication, poor 
practice, failure to follow procedures or meet standards, delays etc. In order to help the Directorate 
monitor performance and improve its services to users, the nature of each complaint is categorised 
in relation to social work activities. 

This section provides a general illustration of the views received, the conclusions drawn from the 
trends that emerged and subsequent action taken to bring about service improvements. Details of 
the numbers of complaints received and upheld can be found in Section 5: Statistical Data. 

4.1     Communication and information 

'The service my son was receiving ended 
in March. I was told someone would 
contact me in April to let me know if it 
would be continuing. It's now June and I'm 
still waiting for someone to speak to me' 

'I am in care and my brother has been 
adopted. I last had contact with him 2 
years ago but have never been told why 
contact stopped and whether I will be able 
to get in touch with him again' 

'When I left care I was given no 
information about aftercare or the support 
I could expect to receive. I was told that as 
I had discharged myself, no support would 
be available but I now know they had a 
duty to support me' 

'The young person I look after had little 
trust in Social Services but due to the 
worker's explanations, understanding and 
personality, she has built up his trust and 
formed a good relationship with him' 

'She is very good at her job, always keeps 
me informed and is always on time' 

'Had a great response today from your 
team. Our views and concerns were 
listened to and taken on board. 
Communication was great and we were 
kept updated' 

'The worker has already made a difference 
by talking to both me and the children and 
trying to sort out counselling' 

Effective communication and 
accurate information are 
essential to the social care task. 
Keeping service users and their 
families informed is a vital 
element of working in 
partnership.

This has been highlighted as an 
issue in previous years and is 
particularly important when 
working with families who may 
be unhappy that the Directorate 
is intervening in their lives.  

This year, the number of 
complaints in this category has 
reduced to 23 from 42 in 
2010/11. Nevertheless, failure to 
communicate information is an 
issue that continues to lead to a 
high number of complaints being 
received every year. 9 out of the 
23 complaints were upheld 
either in full or in part. 

Good communication, both 
verbal and written, can 
significantly improve the user's 
experience of the social work 
task. Whether it is about taking 
time to explain things, keeping 
people informed or making sure 
that details are accurate, when 
individual workers get it right, the 
outcome for the user is much 
more positive. 

Action taken to address the issue of workers failing to keep service users and families informed, 
included reinforcement of the existing procedures that promote good communication and taking up 
the issue with individual workers through the supervision process. It is also planned to address this 
issue through training for staff. 

Page 114



11

4.2     Finance  

'We have been looking after our niece for 
10 months. The manager agreed we were 
entitled to a kinship allowance and this 
would be backdated to when she moved 
in but we have still received no money' 

'I left care when I was 16 and went to stay 
with a friend. I received no money for a 
long time from either Social Care or 
Aftercare. As a result I owe friends and 
family a lot of money' 

'We are foster carers and were told that 
we owed several thousand pounds for 
respite care the boys had received over 
the last year. We had no prior warning of 
this and it took us both by shock'

Prompt payment of allowances to 
foster carers and family members 
caring for children is essential as 
both a courtesy and as a practical 
necessity. Non-payment of 
allowances and errors in payments 
are issues that tend to attract 
complaints and comments.  

This year, only 4 complaints were 
received compared to 10 in 
2010/11. Of these, 3 were upheld 
either in full or in part. 

Complaints can be avoided even 
when payments are reduced or 
ended by ensuring that notice and 
an explanation is given well in 
advance.

Social workers are regularly reminded of the need to ensure the accuracy of information on the 
computer system that triggers payments. When complaints are received, the circumstances are 
reviewed to identify the underlying reason for non-payment or the delay in payment. Any required 
changes to records that affect payments e.g. review or change of placement, are agreed between 
finance and operational staff to ensure future payment is timely and accurate.  

4.3 Management and Decision Making 

'I am living in a children's home in 
Merseyside and have been told I have got 
to move back to Coventry. I think it is a 
bad idea because I know I will get myself 
into trouble and I don't want that. I want to 
stay away from the people and things I get 
into trouble with' 

'I have lived with my foster carer for 2 
years. As the carer is moving to another 
agency I have been told I will need to 
move. I don't think this is fair as I am 
happy and settled here' 

'My social worker said she would pay for 
my hair, dress and make up for my school 
prom but 2 days before the prom she told 
me she would not be paying for anything' 

'For the past 2 years we have received 
help to enable our son to develop his 
social skills through his involvement in 
activities. This has now been stopped 
with no proper assessment of his needs' 

The way that managers make 
decisions and the implications of 
these for service users are 
issues that rarely attract 
compliments but complaints are 
received on a regular basis.  

This year, the number of 
complaints in this category 
reduced to 11 from 25 in 
2010/11. However 6 were 
upheld either in full or in part. 

Many of the complaints might 
have been avoided if service 
users and their families had 
been enabled to feel more 
involved in the decision making 
process.

Page 115



12

 In the main, issues about decisions made by managers were addressed through a review process. 
It is also planned to provide training for staff on the issue of increasing user involvement in decision 
making.

4.4    Professional Conduct

'It was lovely to hear how you continued 
to support the mother and cared for her 
over a most traumatic time. I commend 
and admire your sense of empathy and 
responsibility which was over and above 
the normal responsibilities of your job' 

'The worker has always been there for us. 
He has been reliable, supportive and 
understanding – an absolute rock!' 

'You made me realise that workers are 
here to support people to get their lives 
back on track. I can't explain how grateful 
I am for everything you have done for me 
and the kids' 

'The Judge paid tribute to the social 
worker and said she had moved heaven 
and earth in her efforts on behalf of the 
children' 

'Earlier today I received a call from a 
worker who was very rude and abrupt 
throughout'

'The worker I spoke to was not very 
helpful. He had a bad attitude and didn't 
seem bothered about the concern I was 
reporting' 

'I would like a new social worker as I feel I 
have not got a good relationship with the 
one I have now. She lets me down and 
doesn't listen to me and I feel she doesn't 
always tell me the truth' 

The manner in which individual 
workers perform their tasks 
makes a substantial impact on 
the way service users and their 
families feel about and the 
confidence they have in the 
service.  

This category includes 
representations about workers' 
and foster carers' attitudes, 
standards of work and conduct. 

This is the most common area 
for all feedback. 

There was an extremely high 
number of compliments 
received (106) about the work 
of individual workers. These tell 
the Directorate as much as 
complaints do, about the way 
service users and their families 
like to be treated. The common 
messages that emerged again 
this year were that children and 
families need to feel respected 
as individuals of equal 
importance, to be treated fairly, 
in a courteous, polite and 
helpful manner and to have 
their needs and concerns 
recognised and acknowledged. 

However, 30 complaints were 
also received about the 
conduct of staff. 14 (47%) of 
these were upheld either in full 
or in part; a reduction from 59% 
last year.

 Where things have gone wrong, managers have addressed the issues through setting standards, 
addressing the issue with individual workers through the supervision process and, occasionally, 
disciplinary action. It is also planned to provide wider customer care training for staff. 

Page 116



13

4.5     Service Delivery 

 'The service provided has been totally 
unsatisfactory. Appointments have been 
cancelled at the last minute when I have 
taken time off work and we have been 
sent confusing letters by the worker' 

'We are looking after our grandson and 
applied to Court last year for a Special 
Guardianship Order. This has still not 
happened because Social Care have not 
written the report that is required despite 
reminders from ourselves and the Court' 

'We wish to voice our concern about the 
support our grandson is receiving. We 
feel he is not getting the right support 
from Social Care when they are supposed 
to be safeguarding his welfare' 

'I can't stress what a difference the Short 
Breaks Service has meant to us. They 
have really helped my son as he's not 
afraid to join in and everyone running the 
activities has been so patient, 
understanding and encouraging' 

'I cannot praise everyone enough. I just 
wanted to feedback how good your team 
is and what a difference they have made 
to our lives' 

'I have found the Positive Parenting 
course extremely useful. I'm learning to 
implement all the tools you have given me 
and it's gradually working' 

'I wanted to praise the exceptional level of 
care and support given to this young man 
and his mother. Without the input of your 
staff his future prospects could well have 
been very different' 

Expectations about service 
entitlement and standards vary 
widely amongst users.  

Despite the overall reduction in 
the number of complaints 
received this year, 31 
complaints were received 
about service provision, an 
increase of 5 from 2010/11. 

This was also the issue that 
attracted the highest number of 
complaints across the service. 

Representations in this 
category provide feedback on 
eligibility to services, care plan 
issues, delays to receiving 
services and service standards. 
Sufficient numbers were 
substantiated (17) to warrant 
further attention being given to 
the issue. 

16 compliments were received 
about service provision this 
year, compared to 19 in 
2010/11.

Where expectations exceeded the service level available, explanations were given to clarify the 
situation. Resolution of other issues included reviewing and amending the services provided, re-
assessment and the re-instatement of provision. 

Page 117



14

4.6  Child Protection

Protection of children is an area of work that requires good judgement, sensitivity and sound 
procedures to enable staff to work in an effective way. 

3 complaints were received in this category. 1 suggested that social workers had failed to act on 
concerns about a child. This was investigated but was not upheld. The other 2 were partially 
upheld. These both involved allegations from young people in residential units that they were being 
bullied by other residents. The issues were addressed by staff through direct work with the young 
people involved. 

4.7      Discrimination

Children's Social Care Services seek to provide fair and equal access to service provision and 
delivery and tackle discrimination on the basis of race, gender, disability, age or sexuality. No 
complaints were received this year regarding these issues. 

4.8 Other issues 

A number of complaints (11) could not be categorised using the standard groupings. These were 
mainly from young people in residential units, who were either concerned about the behaviour of 
other residents or the rules that they were expected to adhere to. 

4.9       Learning and Improvements 

Each year themes emerge from complaints which provide generalised areas for service 
improvement, such as better communication by social care staff, greater user involvement in 
decision making and concerns about staff attitudes and conduct. It is planned to address the area 
of decision making in a number of our training and induction areas. The two other common themes 
identified; poor communication in respect of how we ensure people are kept updated in a 
consistent and appropriate way and general professional conduct will be brought together into a 
very specific piece of training around how social workers engage with people and how they 
conduct themselves both in the community and in people's homes.  This work will be linked very 
closely not only to our own corporate standards but to the GSCC Code of Conduct for Social 
Workers with the new national Capability Framework for Social Workers. 

In addition, specific issues that have been identified for managers to work on are: 

 Delays in relation to copies of court reports being provided to service users 

 The need for requests for support from families to be responded to quickly and 
appropriately

 The need for all professionals to be contacted and invited to contribute to the Core 
Assessment process 

 The need for families to be made aware when their social worker is leaving or a case is 
being closed 

 The need for all case records to reflect the work completed and to be up to date, with all 
records being made on the electronic recording system 

 Reviewing the transitions process for young people with a disability and ensuring 
managers chair transition meetings 

Page 118



15

 Avoiding delays in the approval of Pathway Plans 

 Reinforcing the need to use interpreters with families for whom English is not their first 
language

 The need to produce written guidance for foster carers about the parameters for sharing 
information with birth parents

 The need to ensure that parents are offered the opportunity to have contact with their 
children if they are accommodated outside working hours

 The need to encourage social work staff to develop their awareness in relation to 
Asperger's Syndrome and Autism

Page 119



SECTION 5: STATISTICAL DATA 

5.1     Year on year trends - Children’s Social Care Services 

The chart below shows the comparison of Comments, Compliments and Complaints over the past 
five years. 

9
6

1
4
7

1
4
5

1
4
8

1

1
1
5 1
4
7

2

1
2
3

1
3
4

3 0

1
1
6

1

1
2
2

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Comments Compliments Complaints

2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

5.2     3Cs spread across Children's Social Care Services

The chart below shows the spread of Comments, Compliments and Complaints across Children's 
Social Care for 2011/12.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0 0 0 08

5
3 4
7

01 1 0

5
5

5
8

1
5

0

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

N
eig

hbourh
o
od S

erv
ic

es

Speci
al

is
t S

erv
ic

es

Y
outh

 O
ffe

ndin
g S

erv
ic

e

Str
ate

gic
S
erv

ic
es

C
om

m
is

si
oned

 S
erv

ic
es

Comments Compliments Complaints

16Page 120



17

5.3      Detailed Information

5.3.1 Number of Compliments Received by Service 

Neighbourhood 
Services 

Specialist
Services 

Youth Offending 
Service 

Strategic Services Commissioned  
Services 

55 58 8 1 0

5.3.2 Number of Complaints Received by Service and Who Made Them 

Neighbourhood 
Services 

Specialist
Services 

Youth
Offending

Service 

Strategic
Services 

Commissioned 
Services 

Total

Children 3 13 0 0 14 30

Others 50 34 0 0 1 85

Total 53 47 0 0 15 115

     N.B. In one complaint the service area involved could not be established 

5.3.3  Number of Complaints Received by Service and by Category

Neighbourhood 
Services 

Specialist
Services 

Youth
Offending

Service 

Strategic
Services 

Commissioned 
Services 

Total

Communication 10 12 0 0 0 22

Finance 0 4 0 0 0 4

Management 4 7 0 0 0 11

Conduct 17 10 0 0 3 30

Service 19 11 0 0 1 31

Protection 1 1 0 0 1 3

Environment 0 1 0 0 2 3

Discrimination 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other 2 1 0 0 8 11

Total 53 47 0 0 15 115

N.B. In one complaint about communication the service area involved could not be
established

Page 121



18

5.3.4 Complaint Outcomes by Service and by Category 

Neighbourhood 
Services

Specialist
Services 

Youth
Offending

Service 

Strategic
Services 

Commissioned 
Services 

U
p

h
e
ld

 

P
a
rt U

p
h

e
ld

 

N
o

t U
p

h
e

ld
 

W
ith

d
ra

w
n

 

U
p

h
e
ld

 

P
a
rt U

p
h

e
ld

 

N
o

t U
p

h
e

ld
 

W
ith

d
ra

w
n

 

U
p

h
e
ld

 

P
a
rt U

p
h

e
ld

 

N
o

t U
p

h
e

ld
 

W
ith

d
ra

w
n

 

U
p

h
e
ld

 

P
a
rt U

p
h

e
ld

 

N
o

t U
p

h
e

ld
 

W
ith

d
ra

w
n

 

U
p

h
e
ld

 

P
a
rt u

p
h

e
ld

 

N
o

t U
p

h
e

ld
 

W
ith

d
ra

w
n

 

Communication 1 3 3 3 0 5 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Finance 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Management 0 2 2 0 1 3 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Conduct 0 6 8 3 2 3 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0

Service 2 6 10 1 5 3 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Protection 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Environment 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0

Discrimination 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 4 0

Total 3 18 25 7 11 17 18 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 8 4 0

N.B. In one complaint about communication the service area involved could not be 
established

5.3.5 Number of Complaints Completed at Each Stage, Within the Required Time Scales 
and Who Made Them 

a) Stage 1 Complaints – Local Resolution 

Neighbourhood 
Services 

Specialist
Services 

Youth
Offending

Service 

Strategic
Services 

Commissioned
Services 

Child Other Child Other Child Other Child Other Child Other

Responded  
To 3 44 13 32 0 0 0 0 14 1

Completed In 
time 2 32 8 26 0 0 0 0 13 1

N.B. In one complaint the service area involved could not be established 

Page 122



19

b) Stage 2 complaints – Formal Investigation

Neighbourhood 
Services 

Specialist
Services 

Youth
Offending

Service 

Strategic
Services 

Commissioned
Services 

Child Other Child Other Child Other Child Other Child Other

Responded  
to 0 5 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Completed  
In time 0 5 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

5.3.6 Equalities Monitoring 

Ethnic Origin Number 
(All users at 

31/03/12) 

Percentage Number of 
service users in 

complaints

Percentage 

White 1844 70% 84 72% 

Mixed 262 10% 10 9% 

Asian 226 8% 6 5% 

Black 156 6% 9 8% 

Other Ethnic Group 49 2% 1 <1% 

Not Stated 116 4% 6 5% 

Total 2653 100% 116 100% 

Disability Number 
(All users at 

31/03/12) 

Percentage Number of  
service users in 

complaints

Percentage 

No 2365 89% 100 86% 

Yes 288 11% 16 14% 

Not Stated 0 0% 0 0% 

Total 2653 100% 116 100% 

Page 123



20

5.3.7 Contact Methods Used

Children Others 

Method Number Percentage Number Percentage 

Form 6 20% 4 4% 

Letter 8 27% 17 20% 

In person 7 23% 8 9% 

Email 6 20% 28 33% 

Telephone 1 3% 29 34% 

Text 2 7% 0 0% 

Page 124



abc Public report
Cabinet Member Report

  

4th September, 2012 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member (Children and Young People) – Councillor O’Boyle
 
Director Approving Submission of the report:
Director of Customer and Workforce Services
 
Ward(s) affected:
None 
 
Title:
Outstanding Issues 
 
 
Is this a key decision?
No 
 
 
Executive Summary:
 
In May 2004 the City Council adopted an Outstanding Minutes System, linked to the 
Forward Plan, to ensure that follow up reports can be monitored and reported to 
Members. The attached appendix sets out a table detailing the issues on which further 
reports have been requested by the Cabinet Member (Children and Young People) so he 
is aware of them and can monitor progress.  
 
Recommendations: 
 
The Cabinet Member (Children and Young People) is requested to consider the list of 
outstanding issues and to ask the Member of the Management Board or appropriate 
officer to explain the current position on those which should have been discharged at this 
meeting or an earlier meeting. 
 
List of Appendices included:
 
Table of Outstanding Issues. 
 
Other useful background papers: 
None 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 125



 

 2 

 
Has it or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
No 
 
Has it, or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body? 
No 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
No 
 
 
 
 
Report author(s):  
Usha Patel

Name and job title: 
Governance Services Officer

Directorate: 
Customer and Workforce Services Directorate

Tel and email contact: 
024 7683 3198 / usha.patel@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Directorate or 
organisation 

Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Other Elected Members      

     

Names of officers and 
Members approving 
submission of report: 

    

Finance     

Legal     

Human Resources     

     

 
This report is published on the council's website: 
www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings  
 

Page 126



 

 

 
 

Subject Date for Further 
Consideration 

Responsible Officer Proposed 
Amendment to Date 
for Consideration 

Reason for Request to 
Delay Submission of 
Report 

1.  
 
 
 

Implementation of Multi-Systemic 
Therapy and KEEP 
A progress report be submitted to the 
Cabinet Member (Children and Young 
People) ( Minute 22/11 refers – 1st 
November 2011 meeting) 
 

January 2013 Director of Children and 
Young People 
 
Kam Kaur 
 

  

2 
 
 

Review of Payments to Foster Carers 
and Policy for Family and Friends Care 
A progress report be submitted to the 
Cabinet Member (Children and Young 
People) (Minute 29/11 refers – 22nd 
November 2011) 
 

October 2012 Director of Children and 
Young People 
 
Amanda Lamb 

  

* Identifies items where a report is on the agenda for your meeting.  

P
age 127



 

 

 

Page 128


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Annual Family Group Conference Services Report
	5 Annual Report of the Coventry Independent Reviewing Officers (IRO) 2011-2012
	6 Comments, Compliments and Complaints 2011-2012 - Children's Social Care Services
	7 Outstanding Issues

